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“ WE IMPROVED OUR
RISK PROFILE WITH
RESTRUCTURED EXPORT
POLICIES, EMPLOYEE
DEVELOPMENT PLANS,
AND ENHANCED LEVELS
OF COMPLIANCE.”
Prof DP van der Nest
Non-executive Chairman

“ WE ARE PUTTING
BUSINESS FIRST TO PAVE
THE WAY FOR SUSTAINABLE
GROWTH, BY MAKING
INFORMED DECISIONS
THAT MAXIMISE THE
BENEFITS TO SPANJAARD.”
Kentin Welgemoed
Chief Executive Officer
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ABOUT
THIS REPORT
Scope and boundary
The integrated annual report for 2019 includes the operations
of Spanjaard Limited and its subsidiaries (the Company, the
Group or Spanjaard). The information in this report covers the
financial and non-financial performance of the Company for
the year ended 28 February 2019 and where it is relevant
to include information post year-end, this has been
incorporated and noted.
Spanjaard has endeavoured to improve on its disclosures in
this report and to provide meaningful, accurate, complete,
transparent and balanced information to stakeholders.
The Board and Board committees were actively involved
in financial disclosures made in this report.
This report was prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the South African Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as
amended (the Companies Act), the Listings Requirements
of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE), the principles of
the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa
2016, International <IR> Framework, International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), the South African Institute of
Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides
as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, Reporting
Guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative as well as the
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI).
The Group’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.,
have provided an external audit opinion on the annual financial
statements in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act. These were prepared by Ian Saunders CA(SA),
Financial Director (also refer to the independent auditor’s
report on page 39). No external assurance was given
on the integrated annual report (refer to the corporate
governance report on page 21).
The requirement for sustainability assurance is at this stage
not deemed necessary. This will be reviewed annually. This
report contains the most material issues of concern to all
our stakeholders. For additional information visit our website:
www.spanjaard.biz.

Materiality
Materiality is determined with consideration to the
International <IR> Framework, King IV and internal policies.
The organisation defines material issues as those matters
having the potential to affect the business’ strategy, business
model, sustainability or one or more of the capitals over
the short, medium and long term taking into account
the likelihood and consequence of the issues.

Forward-looking statements
The statements made within the integrated annual report
may contain forward-looking information including statements
regarding the Company’s intent, belief or current expectations
with respect to Spanjaard’s operations, market conditions,
results of operation and financial condition, capital adequacy,
specific provisions and risk management practices.

Stakeholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements
are based on Spanjaard’s current expectations and involve
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or implied in such forwardlooking statements. These statements are based on a number
of assumptions that are subject to change. The integrated
annual report speaks only as of this date and the period
reported on. Spanjaard disclaims any duty to update
the information herein.

Board responsibility
The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility to
ensure the integrity of the integrated annual report. The Board
has accordingly applied its mind, collectively and individually,
to the integrated annual report and, in its opinion, the integrated
annual report addresses all material issues, and fairly presents the
integrated performance of the organisation and its impacts. The
integrated annual report has been prepared with consideration
to the recommendations of King IV. The Board authorised the
integrated annual report for release on 31 May 2019.

Prof DP van der Nest
Non-executive Chairman
31 May 2019

Kentin Welgemoed
Chief Executive Officer
31 May 2019

Ian Saunders
Financial Director
31 May 2019

Statement of compliance
by Company Secretary
I confirm that the Company has lodged with the Companies
and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are
required to be lodged by a public company in terms of section
88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, as amended, and that all such
returns are true, correct and up to date as at 28 February 2019.

Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited
Company Secretary
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HIGHLIGHTS AND
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL MARKET (%)
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GROUP
OVERVIEW
Established in 1960, we are a leading and proudly
South African manufacturer of special lubricants and allied
chemical products. Since our listing on the Johannesburg
Stock Exchange in 1987, we have successfully grown our
international footprint and have an established presence
on five continents and in more than 35 countries across
the globe.
From our head office in Sandton, Gauteng, South Africa, our
passionate team of specialists continues to innovate and delight
our customers with exceptional service and the delivery of our
trusted high-quality product range, which is categorised below.
At Spanjaard, our products are synonymous with quality. This is
supported by our ISO 9001 Quality Management certification,
our Food Safety Assessment (FSA) certification, as well as our
registration, evaluation and restriction of chemicals (REACH)
compliance, as required by European Union regulations.

Our technically proficient in-house research and development
team continues to produce a superior range of products and
solutions that provide complete peace of mind in meeting the
specialised, high-performance requirements of both leading
industry experts and everyday consumers alike.
In addition to our core business, we have a highly regarded and
dedicated food aerosol production facility, making Spanjaard
the supplier of choice for a variety of trusted and well-known
household food brands to the local and international markets.
We continue to partner with these brands, successfully delivering
on numerous ongoing contracts while growing our food business.
We are Spanjaard — a leading manufacturer and global
supplier of superior quality products, with a proven track
record of delivering excellence and exceeding expectations,
since 1960.

Our markets

AUTOMOTIVE

HOUSEHOLD

INDUSTRIAL
AND MINING

OUTDOOR
AND LEISURE

Our wide range of Automotive
products are specially
formulated to improve vehicle
performance and simplify
maintenance with a variety of
applications. Products include
cleaners and degreasers, as
well as emergency products
and multi-purpose lubricants,
specially formulated to care
for vehicles from the engine
and combustion chamber
to tyres and windscreen.

We manufacture a range
of household products
including, but not limited
to: multi-purpose lubricants,
heat-resistant paints, leather
treatment as well as cleaners
and hand cleaners.

From the construction
industry to manufacturing
and mining, our tried and
tested products are used
in the maintenance and
preventative maintenance
of large equipment and
machinery, delivering
superior quality and results.

Our range of products is ideal
for use in outdoor and leisure.
Whether you enjoy barbecues,
fishing, outdoor adventure,
cycling or road-tripping,
we have a product suited
to your needs. Our products
range from: puncture repair,
fishing tackle protector and
multi-purpose lubricants
to cleaners, heat resistant
paints and much more.

MARINE

MOTORCYCLE

NON-FLAMMABLE
AEROSOLS

FOOD
GRADE

These products (IMPA coded)
are formulated for the
maintenance and preventative
maintenance of machinery
and equipment used in the
marine industry. Our range is
listed in a number of leading
international marine
catalogues including
ShipServ, ISSA and IMPA.

Formulated to ensure
optimum performance and
maintenance, our motorcycle
range includes air filter oil
and spray, mousse lubricant,
fork oils, cleaners and
multi-purpose lubricants.

Our wide range of
non-flammable aerosols
is well known and used in
the automotive, industrial,
mining and marine sectors.

The products in this range
are widely used in the food
manufacturing sector, and
include NSF-H1 certified
products that offer safe
and non-toxic lubricants
for use in food and drink
processing facilities.
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REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL MARKET (%)

2019

REVENUE BY OPERATING SEGMENT (%)

2019

2018
2019

2018

80

84

9

Africa
Europe
Rest of the world

0

South Africa
Asia

2018
2019

2018

Automotive

29

30

6

Industrial

35

38

7

6

Exports *

15

10

4

3

Consumer goods

21

20

1

Head office, manufacturing and other

0

2

*	Revenue by geographical markets outside of South Africa will not reconcile back to the "Exports"
operating segment due to the fact that revenue from certain export markets are allocated to the
Industrial and Automotive operating segments.

Spanjaard global footprint

North America
United States
South America
Peru

Europe
Azores
Belgium
Cyprus
Czech Republic
France
Greece
Italy
Netherlands
Portugal
Spain
Switzerland

Africa
Angola
Botswana
Kenya
Lesotho
Mauritius
Mozambique
Namibia
South Africa
Swaziland
Tanzania
Zambia
Zimbabwe

Asia
Bangladesh
China
Hong Kong
Israel
Macau
Malaysia
Pakistan
Philippines
Singapore
South Korea
Sri Lanka
Taiwan
Vietnam

Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2019

08

STRATEGY
FOR GROWTH

01

DIVERSIFIED
INCOME
STREAMS
New product development
Enhance existing products

02

Customers in new and
existing markets

03

INVEST IN IDEAS
AND EQUIPMENT

04

Regulatory, legislative and
accreditation compliance

05

Efficient use of resources
Pricing strategy freedom
Healthy cash flow
New products and markets

Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2019

Product research
and development
Technology and expertise
Maintenance of plant
and equipment
Capital expenditure

Environmentally-conscious

FINANCIAL
FLEXIBILITY

Marketing communications
Corporate sponsorships

COMPLY
TO COMPETE
Improve/enhance broad-based
black economic empowerment
and employment equity

Market research and analysis
Brand positioning

Geographical and market
share expansion

Good corporate governance

MARKETING
AND BRAND
DEVELOPMENT

06

MANAGEMENT
FOR TOMORROW
Motivated and effective workforce
Talent attraction and retention
Skills development and training
Succession planning
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RISK
MANAGEMENT
Our approach to risk management is to accurately
identify and assess the probability and potential
impact of our main risks in the context of achieving our
objectives as a business. Accordingly, the risks facing
Spanjaard are compiled in a risk register, with the
respective mitigation actions allocated to each risk.
Our main risks are rated individually in terms of their
magnitude and likelihood, with the understanding
that ratings may change during the year in the
course of business activities within the greater
operating environment.

01  INSURANCE
Due to an increased focus on
businesses with a similar fire risk
profile to ours, we have had to seek an
alternative solution to mitigate these
risks. We have implemented the
outsourcing agreement with DHL
whereby our finished goods are stored
and distributed from a fully compliant,
best practice, world class warehousing
and distribution facility. This in turn has
decreased the risk of loss both in terms
of inventory and fire risk. We are also
in the process of upgrading our own
facilities in order to store more
flammable raw materials while
complying with international best
practices and standards and satisfying
the requirements of our insurers.

04  WORKING

CAPITAL

Our manufacturing operations are
capital intensive, requiring significant
investment in stock, and ultimately
necessitating intense management
of our finance facilities. As this remains
a key focus for management, improved
performance over time will mitigate
the risk.

02

As a function of good corporate governance, risk management
is fundamental in formulating our business strategy, and in
setting objectives to deliver on our strategy. By correctly
understanding and managing risk, we can create improved
certainty and confidence in the sustainability of the business
for our employees, shareholders and investors, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders.
Our risks are classified as either strategic or operational.
Strategic risks refer to possible sources of loss that may
occur during the process of executing our strategy.
Operational risks may lead to loss due to variables
including input costs, demand or management. Our
largest risks broadly fall into the areas set out below:

 REGULATORY
COMPLIANCE

The South African and global
environments are becoming
increasingly regulated in terms of
environmental, governance, privacy,
financial and corporate legislation.
Therefore, our management has spent
a great deal of time and resources
complying with international and
local requirements. We will continue
to systematically work through all
relevant legislations and regulations,
under the auspices of our respective
Board committees. Particular focus has
been on Employment Equity, Broadbased Black Economic Empowerment,
Health and Safety, Globally Harmonised
System of Classification and Labelling
of Chemicals requirements, Protection
of Personal Information, Registration
Evaluation Authorization and Restriction
of Chemicals, Transport Regulations
as well as the Consumer Protection Act.

05  SUCCESSION

PLANNING

The unexpected passing of our former
CEO has highlighted the need for and
importance of having a formalised
succession plan in place for key staff.
Management will prioritise this during
the coming financial year.

03  B-BBEE
Our historically inadequate B-BBEE
scorecard rating has impacted on our
ability to generate revenue growth. We
are fully committed to the transformation
of the South African economy, and are
executing a B-BBEE implementation
plan with specific focus on our deficient
elements, namely skills development,
preferential procurement and enterprise
development. To this extent we have
implemented new procurement policies,
skills programmes, enterprise and
supplier development agreements and
maintained our bursary programme
for black high school students.

06  PRODUCT

DEVELOPMENT

The fast-changing world around us
requires that we develop products
that are relevant now, and will be,
into the future. Management has
discontinued various product lines and
worked on introducing various others.
We constantly evaluate the performance
of all our product lines to identify short
comings and improvements that need
to be made, be that in packaging or
performance — in this regard, we have
a number of product launches planned
for the 2020 financial year.
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OUR
STAKEHOLDERS
Introduction
Our stakeholders are people, groups and institutions
that affect, or are affected by, our daily business
activities and processes, to varying extents and in
different ways. Our key stakeholders are our employees,
customers, shareholders, financiers and bankers,
suppliers, communities, trade unions, and government.

01

We interact with, or engage, our stakeholders in a variety of
ways, from formalised, structured channels of engagement,
to everyday, informal methods that are less structured.
Our engagements can either be frequent or infrequent,
as determined by the respective requirements of each
stakeholder group.

04

Shareholders

Government

Engaging with our shareholders is important, and takes place
in person and formally at our annual general meetings. Other
less formal contact is made on an ad hoc basis, as and when
required. Although these engagements are less frequent, we
as management avail ourselves to shareholders’ questions or
concerns at all times.

The Department of Labour dispute that was mentioned
in the prior integrated annual report was amicably resolved.
Our shortcomings have been addressed and we now have all
the necessary skills and resources allocated to the necessary
requirements of the department. We continue to have
excellent relationships with all government departments.

02

05

Employees

Sponsorships

Our employees are our most important stakeholder; their
dedication and energy turns our plans and strategy into the
reality of doing business.

Spanjaard is the brand of choice for many local and
international professional motorsport individuals and teams.
These too are stakeholders, who trust and use our products
at the highest levels of competitive racing. The world of
motorsport is a natural fit for Spanjaard, and is the ultimate
“laboratory” in which to test our products’ performance and
gain feedback from experts. We are thrilled and extremely
proud to be the Official Specialist Supplier and Technical
Partner for Toyota Gazoo Racing South Africa who raced
to victory in the 2019 Dakar Rally.

We engage our employees on a daily basis, in a wide variety of
interactions, formally and informally. We engage face-to-face, in
groups or individually, via interactive meetings, training sessions,
consultations or performance appraisals. We also engage our
employees telephonically and electronically via email.
At year-end, our total staff complement was 100 employees.

03

06

Trade unions

Customers

Currently, about 28% of our employees are members of the
Chemical, Energy, Paper, Printing, Wood and Allied Workers’
Union (CEPPWAWU), but not part of a bargaining council.
Our relationship with the union is stable, and we have a
formal agreement in place. During the year under review,
we conducted face-to-face, annual union negotiations
with CEPPWAWU which were concluded without incident.

Our customers are the lifeblood of our business, and large
distributors, in particular, have always been vital to our
operations, as they represent a main route to market for
our products, and sustain our sales and manufacturing
volumes. We engage our customers formally and informally,
face-to-face as well as electronically and telephonically.
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FIVE-YEAR
REVIEW
R’000

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

126 244

117 678

120 055

125 825

119 097

Profit/(loss) from operations

5 312

(4 300)

607

8 191

(1 708)

Finance cost

(1 470)

(1 131)

(564)

(1 941)

(2 532)

Interest expense — net

(1 197)

(1 029)

(871)

(1 287)

(1 231)

(273)

(102)

307

(654)

(1 301)

Revenue

(Profit)/loss on foreign exchange
Profit/(loss) before tax

3 842

(5 431)

43

6 250

(4 240)

Income tax (expense)/income

(1 340)

897

370

(1 244)

2 083

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations

2 502

(4 534)

413

5 006

(2 157)

—

—

—

(1 303)

(2 280)

2 502

(4 534)

413

3 703

(4 437)

Total earnings/(loss) and diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (cents)

30,7

(55,7)

5,1

61,5

(12,9)

Total headline earnings/(loss) and diluted headline earnings/(loss) per
ordinary share (cents)

31,6

(54,1)

6,2

62,1

(12,9)

544,0

502,7

558,6

540,8

498,8

— interim/dividend relating to prior periods

—

—

—

—

10,0

— final

—

—

—

16,0

18,0

Dividend declared
Profit/(loss) after dividend

Net asset value per ordinary share (cents)
Dividend declared per ordinary share (cents)
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE
CHAIRMAN

Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Social and Ethics Committee

Prof DP van der Nest (50)

Independent Non-executive Chairman
Qualifications: BCom (Accounting), Dip (HE), BCom (Hons),
MCom (Economics), DTech
Appointment date: November 2006
Professor van der Nest has extensive experience in Corporate
Governance. He has served, and still serves, as the chair and
member of various governance committees in the private and
public sectors in South Africa, and internationally.
He is currently Head of the Department of Auditing at the
Tshwane University of Technology.

EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Kentin Welgemoed (36)
Chief Executive Officer

Qualifications: BCom (Accounting Sciences),
BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)
Appointment date: September 2015
Kentin qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 2010.
He initially joined Spanjaard in July 2015 as Operations Manager,
and was later appointed to the Board as Operations Director.
In September 2017, Kentin was appointed Acting CEO of
Spanjaard and CEO in November.
He is a member of SAICA and the Institute of Directors.

Ian Saunders (34)
Financial Director

Qualifications: CA(SA), BCompt (Hons)
Appointment date: May 2016
Ian qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 2010.
He joined Spanjaard in March 2016 as Financial Manager, having
gained five and three years’ experience in finance and auditing
respectively. He was appointed to the Spanjaard Board in 2016.
He is a member of SAICA and the Institute of Directors.

Graham Cort (43)
Executive Director
Qualifications: Senior Certificate
Appointment date: February 2006
Graham joined Spanjaard’s Consumer/Automotive division as a sales
representative in 1996. He was then assigned to Spanjaard’s Industrial/
Marine division, also in a sales capacity. He was promoted to National
Sales Manager Industrial/Marine division before becoming Spanjaard’s
National Sales Manager.
In January 2006, Graham was appointed to lead the International
Sales and Logistics division, and promoted to Executive Director
in February 2006.
He is a member of the Institute of Directors.
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Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Social and Ethics Committee

EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Clinton Palmer (48)

CONTINUED

Qualifications: BSc, MSc (Biotechnology), MBA
Appointment date: October 2008

Executive Director

Clinton has 20 years’ experience in a variety of technical positions
within the chemical sector. He is currently head of Spanjaard’s
technical operations, including manufacturing operations, all new
and existing product developments and enhancements, as well as
the Company’s QA and QC functions.
He is a member of the Institute of Directors.

Tracy Stewart (36)
Marketing Director

Qualifications: BA (Marketing Communications) (Hons)
Appointment date: October 2017
Tracy has 13 years’ experience in marketing, media and researchrelated fields and has served in management positions for a number
of companies. Her experience also includes independent consulting
specialising in marketing strategy and implementation. Tracy was an
independent marketing consultant for Spanjaard from March 2016 and
joined the Company full time in October 2017, and was simultaneously
appointed as Marketing Director. She has an honours degree in
Marketing Communications and is in charge of marketing for Spanjaard.

Shaila Hari (47)

INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Independent Non-executive Director
Qualifications: BCompt (Hons), Public Sector Governance —
UNISA SBL
Appointment date: November 2011
Shaila is currently Deputy Chairperson of the Gauteng Gambling
Board and Chairperson of the Gaming Committee.
She is a member of the Institute of Directors.

BOARD COMPOSITION

BOARD GENDER

Executive directors

5

Male

5

Non-executive directors

2

Female

2
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EXECUTIVE
REVIEW

Kentin Welgemoed
Chief Executive Officer
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Ian Saunders
Financial Director

15

“Putting business first”
We are pleased to report that we have made meaningful
progress in pursuit of our strategy, delivering positive results
to our stakeholders, despite market volatility and impediments
to sales growth.
As Spanjaard’s leadership, we are putting business first
by making informed decisions that maximise the benefits to
the Company. During the year under review, our focus was on
sustainable and strategic growth through improved teamwork
and collaboration.
We made progress in numerous areas including compliance,
reducing waste and expenditure and notably, our recentlyenhanced export policies are bearing fruit as the segment
begins to make a significant contribution to Group revenue.
We have streamlined our operations and redirected costs.
This approach has begun to improve profitability and expand
our market share and international footprint, all of which we
discuss further in this report.

“WE HAVE MADE MEANINGFUL
PROGRESS IN PURSUIT OF OUR
STRATEGY, DELIVERING POSITIVE
RESULTS TO OUR STAKEHOLDERS”

Domestically, the national power utility’s long-term financial and
operational woes came to the fore once again, as power supply
reliability was impacted by aging infrastructure in dire need of
maintenance. Fortunately, power supply interruptions have had a
limited impact on our own operations and manufacturing capacity,
as we have sufficient diesel generator back-up facilities. However,
a number of our customers have been affected, as their business
activities are restricted or even halted during power outages with
financial implications that are yet to be determined. We are
monitoring the situation closely.
We are pleased to note an opportunity for Spanjaard, in terms
of a price advantage, as we sell many of our products at lower
prices than our competitors. Furthermore, the product
enhancements we have made in terms of quality, compliance,
formulation, packaging and labelling are driven by the needs
of our customers, with positive feedback being received. We
recognise that working harder to meet our customers’ needs,
particularly in a tough economic environment, is crucial. To this
end, we are continuously improving our product and service
offering to gain further traction in local and international markets.
We are also happy to report that our global footprint and
market position strengthened during the year, with growing
demand for our products stemming from Asian markets, as
we will discuss in this report. With our business-friendly export
policies, incentives and customer-centric product development
strategies, we anticipate making further inroads into these
growing economies in the years ahead.

Operating environment
The year under review was once again characterised by
a highly challenging trading environment. In South Africa,
a low-growth economy as well as political and policy
uncertainty combined to erode investor confidence and
reduce trading activity, which, in turn, limited our opportunities
for sales growth. In this context, during the run-up to general
elections, these conditions manifested in our daily business
by way of more frequent but lower volumes being ordered,
as customers held lower levels of stock than previously.
Positively, we are heartened by increased demand for
commodities such as coal as well as platinum group metals,
providing some welcome growth for local mining houses,
which in turn boosted our product sales into the sector.
The mining and construction sectors are often considered
barometers of economic wellbeing, and both have seen
major players struggling to remain operational, with some
going into business rescue or facing closure after prolonged
difficult conditions.
The country’s economy fell into technical recession after
two quarters of contraction in the first half of 2018, before
recovering with modest growth in the fourth quarter of 2018.
Consumer spending has also been under sustained pressure,
as households have less disposable income due to, inter alia,
rising food prices and record high fuel and utility prices.
In addition, inflation fell from a high of 5,2% in November 2018
to 4,0% in January 2019 before climbing to 4,5% in March 2019.

In the year under review, the international environment was
hampered by heightened circumspection in markets due to
uncertainty. In Britain, the ongoing Brexit conundrum has not
yet been resolved, as some of the world’s largest corporations
wait for some clarity before making major capital investment
decisions. In addition, the “trade war” between the USA
and China has seen retaliatory and punitive measures being
exchanged between the two economic giants regarding their
respective trade and economic policies. This has mounted
pressure on less developed economies, such as ours, that rely
on the success and growth of larger economies to stimulate
demand and growth.

Performance
There has been a gratifying turnaround in our year-on-year
financial performance. We achieved our highest-ever sales
during the year, which increased by 7,3% to R126,24 million
(2018: R117,68 million). This was accomplished despite the
completion of a loss-making contract for a major retailer earlier
in the year and discontinuing our Coppermet operations.
Cost of sales increased by a marginal 2,3%, demonstrating the
benefits of our fixed cost base within challenging conditions.
Our gross profit percentage improved by 3% to 38% and
was boosted by a corresponding 4,7% reduction in operating
expenses, including all costs related to distribution and
administration. However, finance costs increased, which
is attributable to new finance leases as we purchased
new gas filling machinery during the year.

Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2019
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EXECUTIVE
REVIEW
In our Exports segment, we can report a major improvement
as sales grew by 60,4% to R19,39 million (2018: R12,09 million),
which increased the segment’s contribution to total sales to
15,4% (2018: 10,3%). Sales in the Exports segment diversify
our revenue streams and are anticipated to increase further
as we expand our presence into these buoyant economies.
Consumer goods sales increased by 11,5% to R26,16 million
(2018: R23,46 million), which includes the loss-making retail
contract that was concluded earlier in the year.
Automotive segment sales experienced modest growth
year-on-year reflecting the weak consumer environment.
Industrial segment sales were flat year-on-year at R44,19 million
(2018: R44,35 million), reflecting the general lack of business
activity within the mining and manufacturing sectors of the
economy. We note improved prospects in selected mining
markets in Africa, which could stimulate the Industrial
segment sales in the year ahead.
Our cash generated from operations improved meaningfully
during the year, resulting in a marginal improvement in cash
position at year end, despite higher prepayments relating to
our new skills plan.
We continued our strict cost management during the year,
maintaining our good cash collections and keeping bad debts
at low levels. This positive financial performance was aided by
our stringent customer vetting process and supported by the
services of Credit Guarantee.

Strategic progress
Our strategy comprises six business priorities that we have
identified as key focus areas to steer Spanjaard to sustainable
growth and future success. For more information on our strategy,
please refer to page 08 of the integrated annual report.
We as Spanjaard have a long history in the South African market,
with high brand recognition among consumers, distributors
and leaders of industry. Our expanding international footprint
represents a gratifying confirmation that our product and service
offering is gaining traction in a growing number of countries.
Sales growth and positive feedback from customers and
distributors suggest that we are growing in terms of market
share, although formal research and surveys have yet to be
concluded to substantiate this. Our improved export and
distributor policies, attractive pricing and customer-driven
product enhancements have been instrumental to our
growth and we will look to build on this in the years ahead.
In this section, we discuss the strategic progress we have
made during the year.

Customer relationships
In a tough market and trading environment, managing our
customer base is paramount. Our customers seek the best
prices, terms and service in order to be competitive and
achieve sales growth. We meet the challenge by delivering
superior products with added technical support services that
deliver real value to our customers’ businesses and differentiate
our brand from competitors.
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Our relationships with customers are pivotal to the ongoing
sustainability of our business, whether locally, in Africa, Europe
or the Far East. Responding to praise or criticism regarding our
offering can translate into opportunities for new product
development, enhancements to existing products, or changing
the way we conduct business. We are heartened that customers
have communicated a willingness to substitute competitor
products with Spanjaard products and also prefer to do
business with us.

Marketing initiatives
During the year, bolstering our marketing communications
and initiatives was a key area of focus. Under the auspices
of our marketing department, the new Company website
was launched at www.spanjaard.biz and has been completely
redesigned and overhauled to be more user-friendly and
better reflect the modern face of the business to online users.
As a milestone for the business, we produced and aired our
maiden broadcast television commercial, showcasing our
well-known Spanjaard product Spark. The core message
of the TV commercial is to communicate the effectiveness
and versatility of Spark as a multipurpose lubricant for use
in a number of environments with a significant number of
applications. The commercial was complemented by a Spark
sales promotion that ran in tandem, as well as special in-store
display stands to increase prominence of the product and
enhance sales. The commercial is currently available to view on
our website at https://www.spanjaard.biz/tv-commercial/ and
we are monitoring its impact on the market in terms of reach,
sales and brand awareness. In keeping with modern trends,
renewed focus has been placed on digital advertising and social
media platforms such as Facebook, Instagram and LinkedIn.

Export market growth
Good progress has been made regarding our expansion
into international markets. Last year, we reported that our
distributorship model had been reviewed and restructured
to facilitate export sales growth. The restructure has already
proven to be fruitful as we are seeing the benefits of this new
model in our Exports segment’s performance for the year.
Given the challenges of the local environment, cross-border
expansion into growing buoyant markets diversifies our
revenue and mitigates local risk significantly.
Since adopting our improved selection criteria for export
partners, we have reached agreements with new distributors
in numerous Asian geographies. We have appointed uniquelyskilled individuals with strong local market understanding and
regulatory expertise to look after our interests in these
high-potential markets.
We are very pleased with the recent outcomes of our
export strategy and it will remain a special focus of senior
management going forward. By putting business first, the
potential for significant cross-border expansion is being
realised now that we have replaced our outdated export
policies with new ones that enhance sales growth.

Streamlining operations and
improving warehousing and distribution
In an ever-changing environment, the success of our business
is driven by responding to the needs of our customers.
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Effectively, this means getting the right mix and balance of
products in our offering to customers, while optimising our
manufacturing capacity to improve profitability. Where there
is sufficient demand from customers and the market, our
technical capabilities allow for the development of any number
of product formulations. Many innovative products originate
from the needs of customers and we are currently investigating
opportunities that could prove to be fruitful.

We have a long history of using environmentally-friendly
propellants and chemicals in our manufacturing processes
wherever possible and continuously look for ways to improve
further. With the assistance of our environmental waste
management partners, we recycle all waste metal cans, tins
and other waste materials. To preserve the municipal water
supply and save on cost, we use borehole water at our
manufacturing site, which is purified when necessary.

Putting business first means making the right decisions,
cultivating the right relationships and removing obstacles
to success. Cost awareness in everything that we do prevents
over-paying for raw materials, specialised external services or
anything else we require to operate our business efficiently and
profitably. We are building a sustainable future for Spanjaard
and have and are putting policies and agreements in place
that make good business sense.

Many of our customers are trying to reduce their impact on the
environment and as such, we aim to provide high-performance
products that are more environmentally friendly. In the mining
and industrial sectors, we are offering a replacement to the
traditional bitumen-based greases with more modern
formulations. To this end, we have now developed and are
testing a quality, environmentally-friendly product to rival
imported products. Being manufactured locally, our product
will be highly competitive in the market in terms of price,
performance and formulation.

We have made progress in streamlining our operations
and redirecting costs with the closure of Coppermet (Pty) Ltd,
effective at the end of April 2018. Coppermet was a non-core,
underperforming operation and was therefore discontinued.
In addition, our Spanjaard business in the United Kingdom
has been closed.
Last year, we reported that we changed our distribution model
to mitigate risk and improve our operations. We achieved this
by outsourcing our warehousing and delivery functions to
DHL, a well-known and long-established international shipping
and logistics company. The transition to DHL was carefully
considered in order to limit the impact on our customers and
employees, manage costs and ensure business continuity.

We are responding to environmental concerns over single-use
plastic packaging and we are currently changing our bottles to
the more recyclable polyethylene terephthalate or PET material.

Product sponsorships
At Spanjaard, we have a strong heritage of corporate sponsorship
within the highly competitive and technical world of motorsport.
Our sponsorships have helped to build our brand presence over
our many years of activity in this exciting sport, where we benefit
from marketing exposure and the growing credibility that we
have gained from our products and technical support.

Deliveries have been streamlined and enhanced, and customers
now receive Spanjaard goods on their own allocated days of
the week, which has positively impacted our operations and
structured the way in which customers plan their orders. After
business-to-business communications and a short period of
integration, our customers are enjoying the benefits of the new
distribution model and the predictability provided by DHL.

We were exceptionally proud in January 2019, when Toyota
Gazoo Racing South Africa won the prestigious Dakar Rally. With
this historic victory, Spanjaard is the Dakar champion’s brand of
choice and the official Specialist Supplier and Technical Partner
for Toyota Gazoo Racing South Africa. Their trust in our products
and technical support was rewarded with victory, defying all
other contenders in the most extreme off-road racing conditions.

Another effect of moving the warehousing function to DHL
is that our holding of finished goods has been increased to
expedite the delivery of stock orders to our customers and as a
result, our working capital requirements are somewhat higher.

Risks and opportunities

Switching to this outsourced model required time, management’s
focus and resources to achieve, but the move has been positive
in terms of cost control and has reduced the likelihood of stock
shrinkage or damage. It offers further efficiencies, statistics and
distribution information that improves our budgeting and costing
capabilities to allow for customer discounts when feasible.

Environmental awareness
As a responsible business that uses and produces chemicalbased products, we are cognisant of the potential impact of
our operations on the natural environment. In terms of business
continuity, the phenomenon of climate change is manifesting
as severe weather conditions that can delay the long-distance
shipping of goods.

We follow a somewhat cautious approach when doing
business and are reluctant to take serious risks that could
threaten our sustainability. After conducting a comprehensive
risk analysis, our findings identified a number of areas that
required corrective action to mitigate the risks they pose to
the business. Many of these were initiated during the year
under review, some of which have already been discussed
above and additional initiatives are briefly discussed below.
We are in the process of procuring a new closed-circuit television
and camera system to mitigate risks related to manufacturing,
health and safety, and theft. As already mentioned, we outsourced
our warehousing and distribution to DHL, and at our own storage
facility, we enhanced compliance and insurance cover to mitigate
the risk of damage and loss due to fire.
We aim to construct a new flammable chemical storage
facility, pending municipal approval to meet our insurance
requirements and best industry practice.
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Aside from complying with safety labelling requirements for
sales into China, we established an international emergency
care phone number that is displayed on all of our products.
We also established an anonymous whistleblowing programme
for the prevention of fraud this year, which is managed by an
independent non-executive director on our Board of Directors.
To read more about Spanjaard’s main risks and mitigation
responses, refer to page 09 of this integrated annual report.

Employee development
Job grading
As part of our initiative to enhance our human resources
function and its policies, we engaged with our employees
to introduce and implement a job grading system. With the
assistance of a specialist third party, the system is currently
being finalised and has the support of employees as well as
the relevant labour union, CEPPWAWU.
The purpose of the job grading system is to bring greater
objectivity to the way employees are evaluated in their various
roles within the business. Once fully implemented, the system
is anticipated to improve employee relations, salary negotiations
and help staff understand how the variables of skills, education
and experience help to determine their level of remuneration.
Early indications suggest increased staff morale, as the system
promotes fairness and can highlight areas where employees can
improve as well as any redundancies that need to be addressed.

Skills development and training
Following the findings of our employee job grading
assessment, our skills development plan has been formalised
and submitted to the Chemical Industries Education and
Training Authority (CHIETA), the statutory body established
by the Skills Development Act. Once approved, the skills
development plan can be put into action throughout the
business and we will then apply for funding assistance
from CHIETA, where necessary.
Tasked with developing a training plan programme, our
newly-formed Skills Committee reports to the Social and
Ethics Committee. Although training throughout our workforce
is a priority, our skills development and training efforts remain
focused on developing black employees and members of our
local communities seeking employment. We also aim to train
unemployed and disabled people, through learnerships and
other initiatives.
During the process of our internal health and safety reviews,
areas were identified to improve our health and safety training,
and these are currently being addressed by management. All
mandatory training has been completed as required by law.

Corporate governance
Our business activities and conduct are guided by the King IV
requirements for good corporate governance. We have in place
a Board Charter and Board committee terms of reference that
are regularly reviewed and amended where appropriate. As a
relatively small business, our aim during the year ahead is to
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strengthen the composition of our Board of Directors with
the appointment of a third independent non-executive director.
For details on Spanjaard’s governance practices, please refer
to the corporate governance report commencing on page 21
of this integrated annual report.

Compliance and accreditation
To deliver real value to our customers, our products are
manufactured safely and to a high standard, as evidenced by
our ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management accreditation, as well
as our Food Safety Assessment certification, among others.
To mitigate risk, we have reviewed and enhanced our fire
insurance cover, with an updated certificate of compliance for
our warehouse. In the coming year, we intend to build a larger
special storage facility for our flammable bulk raw materials
and hazardous chemicals, to replace the current facility, as
soon as we receive council approval.
During the year under review, as is done every five years, we
ensured that our large gas storage tank remained compliant as
a major hazardous installation. We also conducted all legallyrequired health and safety compliance training, including
first aid and fire marshal training.
To ensure that we remain compliant with local legislation, we
engage with labour, employment equity and other consultants
that provide objectivity and augment our own capabilities.
In the European Union (EU), we are compliant with the
Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of
Chemicals (REACH) regulations. The aim of REACH is to protect
people, animals and the environment from harmful chemicals.
We also comply with the EU’s General Data Protection Regulation
that enforces the protection of data and privacy of persons
living in the Union’s member states.
In China, we comply with the new, more stringent regulations
for the safe transportation of hazardous chemicals. Having
previously transported the majority of our goods by land
from Hong Kong through China, we can now export directly
to Shanghai by sea, which is a major competitive advantage.
We have also successfully completed a major project to align
our labelling of chemical products with the new regulations
in that country. All of our labelling on products for sale in
China has been successfully translated and this is expected
to bolster sales.

Settlement with the Department of Labour (DoL)
During the year under review, we dealt with and concluded an
enquiry from the DoL, regarding sections of the Employment
Equity Act, and the matter has been resolved satisfactorily.

Transformation
We are mindful that our non-compliant B-BBEE status limits
our ability to secure new business in South Africa. It therefore
stands to reason that our aim is to become compliant as a
business as soon as practicable.
We are pleased to have made good progress in our skills
development and training initiatives and we are focused
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on improving our performance in preferential procurement,
and enterprise and supplier development. During the year
under review, we identified local partnering opportunities,
engaged with small and micro enterprises and implemented
an enterprise and supplier development programme.
To improve our B-BBEE scorecard performance, procurement
was a major strategic focus of management during the year.
By keeping transformation top of mind, we have switched a
number of our input material suppliers to black-owned, B-BBEE
compliant suppliers. By making B-BBEE a business imperative,
we are starting to see the benefits of transformation which
has resulted in significant savings on certain input costs.
Furthermore, we invested in highly effective software that tracks
B-BBEE performance in our everyday business activities. With
this system, we can proactively manage our performance on
a monthly basis, without the need for costly consultants. The
software also tracks our training programmes and is affordable
and easy to use. Currently and going forward, management can
be updated and monitor where improvements have been made
and where they are needed.

Capital expenditure
We have identified areas of the business that require capital
expenditure to enhance our operations and manufacturing
capabilities. To this end, our programme to upgrade certain
of our aging equipment began with our aerosol gassing
machines. Subsequently, we anticipate packaging process
improvements and maintenance costs savings.
As discussed in this report, certain capital expenditure relates
to the costs of outsourcing to DHL and we are already seeing
the benefits.

Post year-end events
There were no other significant post year-end events that have
not been discussed already in this report.

Changes to the Board
After serving on the Board for 13 years, Bernard Montgomery
resigned as an independent non-executive director of the
Company and member of the Audit Committee, effective
31 August 2018. We thank Bernard for his valuable contribution
to the Company and wish him well for his future endeavours.
The Board is currently in the process of appointing a replacement.

With the launch of various new food grade products during the
coming year, we aim to build a respectable range of formulations
that will compete with international brands. While we are
cautious in our investment approach, we see food grade
formulations as an exciting niche market opportunity in
South Africa with room for growth and diversification.
We are gaining some momentum in our Automotive segment,
as improved prospects with local motor manufacturers
suggest a measure of sales growth during the year ahead.
Our African presence is growing, with Zambia showing promise
in particular. On the broader African continent, we note increased
activity in mining for commodities, precious gems and PGMs, and
we will look to service these markets with our range of mining
products from our Industrial segment.
Further afield in Asia and the Far East, we anticipate steady
sales volume growth after setting up our Exports segment
with business-friendly policies and dedicated, local experts.
Positive returns are expected to flow from our new distributors
in Asia. We are encouraged by our prospects in Asia, as our
distributors understand the market, the products on offer, and
can distinguish between average products and our superior
products’ features.
During the year ahead, we will continue to look for growth
opportunities in South Africa, while mitigating risk and further
diversifying our income streams by developing our crossborder business interests in Africa, Asia and developing
European economies.
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Outlook and prospects
We look forward to the year ahead, having made solid progress,
despite the difficulties experienced during the year under review.
In South Africa, we anticipate that the tough operating
environment will continue, with the possibility of some
improvement in the local economy in the aftermath of general
elections. After a year that saw much of our focus on legislative
and regulatory compliance, and integrating DHL with the
business and our customers, we can concentrate on further
growing sales. The local economy has its challenges, but we
see opportunities to leverage the quality of our products and
services where competitors may have become complacent.

Kentin Welgemoed

Ian Saunders

Chief Executive Officer

Financial Director

31 May 2019

31 May 2019
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“GOOD CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
ENSURES THAT THE
COMPANY RUNS WELL.”
Shaila Hari
Independent Non-executive Director
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Ethical leadership and governance
The Board of Directors and management is committed to
applying the principles of good governance as contained in
the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa
2016 (King IV). Under the stewardship of the Board, an open
governance process is managed through which stakeholders
may derive assurance that the Group is being managed in an
ethical and disciplined manner according to risk parameters
based on the principles of transparency, accountability,
responsibility and fairness.
The Board must:
—— Act as the focal point for, and custodian of, corporate
governance by managing its relationship with management,
the shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company
along sound corporate governance principles.
—— Appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability
are inseparable and to give effect to this by:
–– Contributing to and approving the strategy.
–– Satisfying itself that the strategy and business plans
do not give rise to risks that have not been thoroughly
assessed by management.
–– Identifying key performance and risk areas.

—— Commence business rescue proceedings as soon as the
Company is financially distressed.
—— Evaluate the performance of the Chief Executive Officer.
A code of conduct exists to which all the directors of the
Company subscribe that sets out the standards and principles
to which the Board commits to strive towards when dealing with
stakeholders namely shareholders, customers, suppliers or
employees. The Board and the Company’s employees conduct
its business with integrity and every effort is made to create
a culture and value system that directors, employees and
all stakeholders are proud to be associated with.

Board of Directors
Composition, independence and diversity
The Board of Directors is based on a unitary structure and due
to the relatively small size of the Company the Board consists
of five executive directors and two independent non-executive
directors. A vacancy exists for a third independent non-executive
director which will be filled in due course. The Group has a
policy to ensure a clear balance of power and authority at
Board level, so that no one director has unfettered powers
of decision making.

–– Ensuring that the strategy will result in sustainable
outcomes.

As at year-end the Board comprised the following members:

–– Considering sustainability as a business opportunity
that guides strategy formulation.

—— Prof. DP van der Nest (Independent Non-executive Chairman)

—— Provide effective leadership on an ethical foundation.
—— Ensure that the Company is and is seen to be a responsible
corporate citizen by having regard to not only the financial
aspects of the business of the Company but also the impact
that business operations have on the environment and the
society within which it operates.
—— Ensure that the Company’s ethics are managed effectively.
—— Ensure that the Company has an effective and independent
Audit and Risk Committee.
—— Be responsible for the governance of risk.
—— Be responsible for information technology (IT) governance.
—— Ensure that the Company complies with applicable laws and
considers adherence to non-binding rules and standards.
—— Ensure that there is an effective risk-based internal audit.
—— Appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect the
Company’s reputation.
—— Ensure the integrity of the Company’s integrated
annual report.
—— Act in the best interests of the Company by ensuring
that individual directors:
–– Adhere to legal standards of conduct.
–– Are permitted to take independent advice in connection
with their duties following an agreed procedure.
–– Disclose real or perceived conflicts to the Board and
deal with them accordingly.
–– Deal in securities only in accordance with the policy
adopted by the Board.

—— K Welgemoed (Chief Executive Officer)
—— I Saunders (Financial Director)
—— GF Cort (Executive Director)
—— CKT Palmer (Executive Director)
—— TN Stewart (Marketing Director)
—— S Hari (Independent Non-executive Director)
Biographies of the abovementioned directors can be found
on pages 12 and 13 of this report.
The Chief Executive Officer and the Financial Director
are ex officio members of the Board.
The Board continuously assesses the independence of
its non-executive directors by monitoring the Company’s
shareholding, interest in contracts and the declaration
of conflicts of interest.
Spanjaard supports the objective of gender and race diversity
at Board level. When the Board considers the appointment of
new directors, cognisance of its gender and race diversity policy
is taken. Special attention is given to recruiting women as well as
representatives from designated groups as per the Employment
Equity Act with the required skills and competence as required by
the Board at the time when a vacancy avails itself. The Board has
set the voluntary target of women representatives on the Board
at 20%, which it has met and exceeded at 29%. The Board has set
the voluntary target of representatives from designated groups on
the Board at 20%. Spanjaard currently has representation of 15%
and will strive to meet the target when further vacancies arise.
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The Board is satisfied with the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience, diversity and independence of its members.

Appointment, rotation and election

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

AUDIT
AND RISK
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL
AND ETHICS
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE

New directors appointed to the Board follow a formal and
transparent process. The Board considers that the number
of directors at any time and the composition of the Board is
critical for the success of the Company and it acknowledges
that the composition could vary from time to time depending
on the circumstances of the Company.
The total number of directors is determined by the Board under
the constitution or by shareholders in a general meeting. The
Board considers the skills and experience required for it to fulfil
its duties given the scale and complexity of the Company’s
operations. Given the existing scale and complexity of the
Company’s operations, the Board believes that it is impractical
to appoint a Nomination Committee. Accordingly, the full Board
assumes responsibility for the selection and appointment
of directors. Currently the Board consists of five executive
directors and two independent non-executive directors.
Whether filling a vacancy or expanding the Board, the procedures
applied by the Board include the selection of a panel of nominees.
In compiling the panel of nominees, the Board draws on advice
from external consultants and internal industry experience,
when necessary.
Potential directors are approached by the Chairman of the
Board and their interest in joining the Board, together with
the responsibilities such an appointment entails, are discussed.
Terms and conditions of the appointment, including the level
of remuneration, are also communicated to the nominees.

Employment
Equity
Committee

Health
and Safety
Committee

Skills
Committee

DEPARTMENT
HEADS

In terms of the Company’s rotation policy the non-executive
directors retire every three years and may offer themselves
for re-election as per the Company’s Memorandum of
Incorporation. There are no non-executive directors
up for re-election in the current financial year.

Factory

Finance

Sales

Technical

Warehouse

Marketing
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If accepted, the Board appoints the new director(s) during
the year, and that person(s) will then stand for election by
shareholders at the next annual general meeting. Shareholders
are provided with relevant information on the candidates
for election.

Changes in directorate
Mr BL Montgomery resigned as a non-executive director
with effect from 31 August 2018. The Board wishes to thank
Bernard for his 13 years of service as a non-executive director
in the Company.

Chairman of the Board
The Board Chairman is an independent non-executive director
with a separate role and set of responsibilities to the CEO. The
Chairman serves a three-year term from the date of appointment
and is eligible for re-election. The Chairman must maximise the
value of the Board, act as the link between the Company and the
shareholders and represent the Board and act on the Board’s
behalf between meetings.
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2019 Board meeting attendance
During the year directors attended Board meetings as follows:
11 Apr 2018

25 May 2018

17 Aug 2018

10 Oct 2018

19 Feb 2019

Total
meetings

Total
attended

% Meetings
attended

Prof DP van der Nest
Independent Non-executive Chairman

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

5

5

100

K Welgemoed
Chief Executive Officer

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

5

5

100

I Saunders
Financial Director

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

5

5

100

GF Cort
Executive Director

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

5

5

100

CKT Palmer
Executive Director

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

5

5

100

TN Stewart
Marketing Director

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

5

5

100

S Hari
Independent Non-executive Director

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

5

5

100

BL Montgomery *
Independent Non-executive Director

Yes

Yes

Yes

—

—

3

3

100

Directors

* Resigned 31 August 2018.

The Chairman presides over all meetings of the Board,
provides overall leadership and ensures that Board decisions
are executed. In order to fulfil their duties, the Chairman
ensures that Board members receive accurate, timely and
clear information to perform effectively. The ethical tone of
the Board is set by the Chairman who also manages conflicts
of interest of his fellow members of the Board. The Chairman
plays an active role in the selection process of Board members.

CEO
The Board delegates authority to the CEO who is in turn
accountable to the Board for the development and successful
implementation of the Group’s strategy and the overall
management and performance of the Company. The CEO
provides executive leadership and is charged with the effective
management of all operations of the Company. The CEO may
delegate or sub-delegate any operational matter not reserved
for the Board or shareholders.

Director development and training
A formal induction programme is established for new directors
appropriate to their experience to familiarise them with
matters relating to our business, our strategy and current
issues. Inexperienced directors are developed through
mentorship programmes.
Continuing professional development programmes are
implemented which ensure that directors receive regular
briefings on changes in risks, laws and the environment.

Meetings and procedures
The Board met five times during the year under review.
The table above references the attendance of Board meetings.
Members of senior management, assurance providers and
professional advisors attend meetings by invitation only.
The Company Secretary is the secretary to the Board. If the
nominated Chairman of the Board is absent from a meeting,
the members present must elect one of the members present
to act as Chairman.
The Chairman of the Board has access to the Chief Executive
Officer and the Financial Director as well as the Company
Secretary prior to Board meetings to discuss matters of
importance and to agree on the agenda.
The Board establishes an annual work plan to ensure that all
relevant matters are covered by the agendas of the meetings
planned for the year. The annual plan must ensure proper
coverage of the matters laid out in the Board charter. More
critical matters are attended to each year while other matters
are dealt with on a rotation basis over a three-year period.
A detailed agenda together with supporting documentation
is circulated at least one week prior to each meeting to the
members of the Board and other invitees. Board members are
obliged to be fully prepared for Board meetings in order to
provide appropriate and constructive input on matters for
discussion. The minutes are completed as soon as possible
after the meeting and circulated to the Chairman and
members of the Board for review thereof. The minutes are
formally approved by the Board at its next scheduled meeting.
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Board’s key focus areas of 2019
During the year under review, the Board underwent a process of
consolidation following the passing of the Company’s founder
and erstwhile CEO, Robert Spanjaard. Cost rationalisation and
rightsizing was a key focus in light of Coppermet (Pty) Ltd
ceasing to operate and the need for capital expenditure to
update old equipment with new equipment to be commissioned
in the 2019 financial year, was deliberated. The Company’s
insurance cover was assessed and bolstered where needed.
Greater attention was given to the Company’s sales and
distribution operations in the Far East which resulted in the
appointment of a country manager for that region. Other areas
focused on were as follows:
—— DHL
–– To streamline operations and mitigate risk, the Company
successfully outsourced its warehousing and distribution
function to DHL, an international shipping company.
–– The outsourcing included a period of integration to
align the role of DHL with the Company, its customers
and employees.
–– Redundancies that stemmed from this process
were addressed.
—— Insurance
–– The Company’s risk profile was enhanced with added
fire insurance to mitigate the risk of damage and loss.
–– Plans for a new flammable chemical storage facility were
finalised for installation, pending municipal approval.
–– The Company’s large gas storage tank was assessed and
is compliant as a major hazardous installation, which is
valid for five years.
—— Employment equity and skills development
–– An enquiry from the DoL pertaining to sections of the
Employment Equity Act was successfully concluded
and resolved satisfactorily.
–– A formalised skills development and training programme
has been developed and has been submitted to statutory
body CHIETA for approval.
—— Restructuring of staff
–– An employee job grading assessment was performed
to improve fairness, objectivity and an understanding
of job descriptions and pay grades.
—— Restructuring of international sales
–– Business-friendly, growth-enhancing changes were
made to the Company’s export sales and distributorship
policy. This positively impacted export sales and is being
closely monitored.
–– Dedicated representatives with local market expertise
continued to look after the Company’s interests in
export countries.
—— Key focus on marketing
–– The Company’s first-ever television commercial was
successfully produced and broadcast under the guidance of
the Marketing department. The commercial was supported
by a sales promotion and in-store product displays.
—— Improved packaging
–– A major project to translate labels on products exported
into China was successfully implemented to align with
regulations in that country.
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–– Domestically, visual enhancements to product
packaging and labelling have been well received
by customers and the process is ongoing.
–– The Company is converting certain PVC bottles to
PET bottles to improve their recyclability and impact
on the environment.
—— New product development
–– The development of new environmentally-friendly
Industrial segment greases and food grade products
progressed, with product launches being planned.
–– New product development was expedited, post the
outsourcing to DHL and the requisite integration phase.
—— Financial budgeting and variance analysis
–– After redirecting costs, the Company’s actual performance
for the year compared favourably to its budgeted expenses
and revenue.
—— Policies and procedures
–– A focus was to align the Company with the requirements
of the Protection of Personal Information Act, and the
Consumer Protection Act.
–– The financial function had a focus on remaining compliant
with developments in terms of International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).
–– Health and safety practices were improved after the
outcomes of an internal assessment were addressed.
—— B-BBEE
–– Procurement from black-owned enterprises was a major
focus in order to improve the Company’s non-compliant
B-BBEE status and business prospects.
–– Local partnering opportunities with qualifying small
entities and exempt micro enterprises were identified
in order to implement an enterprise and supplier
development programme.
–– The Company successfully implemented specialist
software that tracks its B-BBEE performance in everyday
business activities and reduces the need for consultants.
The benefits of this software are already being realised.
–– The Company signed learnership agreements with seven
employees as well as seven unemployed learners, including
two disabled learners.

Board processes
Company Secretary
Shane Rothquel (42), the Company’s representative from Levitt
Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited (Levitt Kirson),
holds an LLB and is currently in his final year of coursework for
his LLM (Corporate Law) at UNISA. Shane is currently focused
on a short dissertation with a research focus area in directors’
and officers’ liability.
He has been a corporate secretarial consultant for 3,5 years,
after a long career in legal practice. Shane will seek admission
as an Attorney of the High Court in the near future. He also
spent six years at Group Five assisting both the Group Legal
and Compliance Director, and the Group Commercial Director.
The Board of Directors is satisfied that Levitt Kirson and
Shane Rothquel have all the necessary qualifications and
acts independently and appropriately as Company Secretary.
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The Company Secretary is a juristic firm and the Board assessed
and considered the firm as a whole and the individual assigned
to Spanjaard. Accordingly, it is concluded that an arm’s length
relationship with the Board and its Directors is maintained.

Board and committee effectiveness
The Board and its committees recently concluded
self-assessments and considers themselves effective.

Delegation of authority — Board committees
The Board delegates certain functions to its well-structured
Audit and Risk, Remuneration and Social and Ethics Committees
without abdicating its own responsibilities. Delegation is formal
and involves the following:
—— Formal terms of reference are established and approved
for each committee of the Board.
—— The committees’ terms of reference are reviewed
once a year.
—— The committees are appropriately constituted with
due regard to the skills required by each committee.
—— The Board establishes a framework for the delegation
of authority to management.
For more information on the Audit and Risk, Remuneration
and Social and Ethics Committees refer to pages 26, 30
and 34 respectively.

EXCO
While retaining overall accountability, the Board has delegated
to the CEO the authority to run the day-to-day affairs of the
Group. The EXCO aids the CEO in this task. The EXCO which
consists of all executive directors and certain members of
senior management, meets monthly to address all operational
and financial matters of the Group.
As at year-end the EXCO comprised the following members:
—— K Welgemoed (Chief Executive Officer)
—— I Saunders (Financial Director)
—— GF Cort (Executive Director)
—— CKT Palmer (Executive Director)
—— TN Stewart (Marketing Director)
—— L Barnard (National Sales Manager — Industrial)
—— BJ Wilkin (National Sales Manager — Automotive)
—— M Setuse (Operations Manager)
—— S Chetty (Logistics Manager)

EXCO’s key focus areas of 2019
During the year, the EXCO focused on the Group’s sales,
both local and foreign, achieving forecast budgets and cost
cuttings, researching and developing new products, better
marketing of the business to capitalise on existing and new
opportunities, human resources management as well as
matters of compliance.
In addition, it reviewed the Group’s policies and procedures
and guided the Board in the consolidation of the Group after
Robert Spanjaard’s passing. Matters pertaining to health and
safety and production were also prioritised.

Board and committee evaluations
The Board and all its committees undergo an annual
self-assessment process. Results are summarised and
reported on at the following Board and committee meetings.
During the year, improvements were made especially in areas
of good governance where King IV has guided the Board in
improving governance matters which included many policies
and procedures which were informal in the past that have now
been formalised. Structural changes to the Board and its
committees have also been made.
The outcome of the assessment performed and the report has
been shared with the Board. Key matters have been addressed
and an action plan has been put in place to address all
outstanding key issues.

Directors’ dealings
Directors are free to purchase shares on the open market after
obtaining approval and advance clearance from the Chairman
of the Board in terms of paragraph 3.66 of the JSE Listings
Requirements. The Chairman must receive clearance from
the CEO prior to the purchase of shares. A Director may not
deal in the Company’s shares when privy to price sensitive
information and during closed periods.

Technology and information governance
The Board is of the opinion that an effective governance
structure is in place. Executive management is mandated
to improve the overall status of information technology
governance within the Group.

Legal and regulatory compliance
The Group’s compliance with legislative and regulatory
requirements including the JSE Listings Requirements, the
Companies Act and other applicable legislation, as well as
the application of the King IV recommendations is monitored
by the Audit and Risk Committee and remains a standing
agenda item for all committee meetings.
Focused attention was paid to the Employment Equity Act.
As reported in the 2018 integrated annual report the Group
was dealing with an enquiry from the Department of Labour
concerning certain sections of the Employment Equity Act.
The Company is pleased to report that the matter was
resolved amicably.
The Company’s health and safety continues to be an area
of focus.
Policies and procedures relating to the Consumer Protection
Act and the Protection of Personal Information Act were
developed and implemented.
Our roadmap to Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment
Implementation was started in the current financial year. Special
emphasis was placed on procurement, Skills development and
social and economic development and we will continue
improving on all elements of the B-BBEE scorecard.
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AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE REPORT
The Audit and Risk Committee (the committee) is constituted
as a statutory committee of the Company in respect of the
statutory duties of section 94(7) of the Companies Act and
is a committee of the Board in all other duties assigned
to it by the Board.
Except with respect to the appointment, fees and terms
of engagement of the independent external auditor, the
decisions of the committee do not reduce the individual
and collective responsibilities of Board members in regard
to their fiduciary duties and responsibilities.

—— Applying the combined assurance model to ensure
a coordinated approach to all assurance activities.
—— Reviewing the expertise, resources and experience
of the finance function.
—— Considering the appropriateness of the expertise and
experience of the Financial Director.
—— Overseeing the internal audit function.
—— Overseeing of internal controls and financial reporting.
—— Risk assessment and oversight.

Meetings

Committee composition
The committee is appointed annually by the shareholders and
comprises three independent non-executive directors. During
the year under review Mr BL Montgomery resigned from the
Board and all sub-committees. The Board is currently in the
process of appointing his replacement.
—— S Hari (Chairperson)
—— Prof DP van der Nest

Four committee meetings were held during the year under
review, and meeting attendance is referenced in the table
below. The Chief Executive Officer and the Financial Director
are invited to attend all or part of any meeting as and when
considered appropriate by the committee. The external
auditors are invited to attend meetings of the committee
on a regular basis. The committee proposed all decisions
of the meeting to the Board of Directors, which then
authorised any decisions made.

All members of the committee have general financial
knowledge and relevant financial experience. Collectively,
the committee has an understanding of all matters that
are integral to the Company’s integrated annual report.

The committee’s key focus areas of 2019

The committee members have considered and are of
the opinion that they are adequately independent from
the Company and Group, and management thereof, within
the spirit of the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct.

—— The financial statements were discussed at committee
meetings and recommended to the Board for approval.

The following actions were taken by the committee during
the year under review:

The external auditors of the Group, PricewaterhouseCoopers
Inc., have unrestricted access to this committee.

Committee charter

—— The committee in striving to conform to its regulatory
framework, has reappointed an external service provider
to assist in the publishing of the integrated annual report
and will ensure that the King IV requirements are met.
—— The committee approved the unaudited interim financial
results for the six months ended 31 August 2018.
—— The committee approved the External Audit Report and
Management letter for the 2018 financial year.

The committee is governed by a written charter which
is subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and
the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, as well
as any other applicable law or regulatory provision.

—— The committee ensured compliance with IFRS and the
JSE Listings Requirements.
—— The committee assessed the Company’s five-year review.
—— The committee assessed the existing policies
and procedures.

The primary purpose of the committee is assisting
the Board in:

—— The audit plan for the year ended 28 February 2019 was
addressed prior to year-end and approved. This was subject
to the timeline discussed with management and external
auditors. The IESBA Code was amended in terms of the
professional accountant’s response to noncompliance
with laws and regulations.

—— Ensuring the continued independence of the
independent auditor.
—— Overseeing the external audit process.
—— Overseeing integrated reporting.

Audit and Risk Committee meeting attendance
11 Apr 2018

25 May 2018

10 Oct 2018

17 Jan 2019

Total
meetings

Total
attended

% Meetings
attended

S Hari

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

4

4

100

Prof DP van der Nest

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

4

3

75

BL Montgomery *

Yes

Yes

—

—

2

2

100

Members

* Resigned 31 August 2018.
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—— The committee highlighted and discussed any instances
of actual, suspected or alleged fraud risks reported by
management that might be affecting the Company
on a regular basis.
—— The review of the operational and strategic risk registers.
—— The committee considered all communications and
directives issued by the JSE including the proactive
monitoring of the financial statements with the specific
focus on the new financial instruments (IFRS 9) and
revenue standards (IFRS 15).
—— The committee discussed and reviewed the management
accounts which included reviews on a monthly basis as
provided by management.

The committee’s future focus areas
Going forward, the committee will be focused on the following:
—— Ongoing reviews of the Company’s financial performance.
The 2019 financial statements will be discussed at
committee meetings.
—— The External Audit Report and Management letter for
the 2019 financial year will be reviewed.
—— Continued compliance with IFRS and the JSE Listings
Requirements.
—— Approval of unaudited interim financial results for the
six months ending 31 August 2019.
—— The risk register will be a standing item on the agenda
to ensure that strategic and operational risks are being
monitored and that effective controls are in place.
Addressing the risks identified in the risk register
and the mitigation strategies of minimising this
to an acceptable risk appetite.
—— The committee will continuously identify any ad hoc
internal audit assignments to ensure internal controls are
effective and assign these to an external service provider
where appropriate.

Independent external auditors
Appointment and independence
The committee considers and makes recommendations to
the Board, to be put to shareholders for approval at the Annual
General Meetings of the Company, in relation to the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the Company’s independent
auditors. The committee oversees the selection process for new
auditors and if an auditor resigns the committee investigates the
issues leading to this and decides whether any action is required.

The committee oversees the relationship with the independent
auditors which includes:
—— determining their remuneration, whether fees for audit
or non-audit services;
—— approving their terms of engagement, including any
engagement letter issued at the start of each audit and
the scope of the audit;
—— assessing their independence and objectivity annually,
taking into account relevant professional and regulatory
requirements and the relationship with the auditor as a
whole, including the provision of any non-audit services;
—— satisfying itself that there are no relationships (such as
family, employment, investment, financial or business)
between the auditors and the Company (other than in
the ordinary course of business);
—— agreeing with the Board a policy on the employment
of former employees of the Company’s auditors, then
monitoring the implementation of this policy;
—— monitoring the auditors’ compliance with relevant ethical
and professional guidance on the rotation of audit partners,
the level of fees paid by the Company compared to the
overall fee income of the firm, office and partner and
other related requirements;
—— assessing annually their qualifications, expertise and
resources and the effectiveness of the audit process
which shall include a report from the independent auditors
on their own internal quality procedures; and
—— considering the risk of the withdrawal of the Company’s
auditors from the market.
The committee ensures that the appointment of the auditor
complies with the Companies Act, the Auditing Profession Act
and other relevant legislation. The committee has approved the
reappointment of PwC as the external auditors of the Company.
The committee meets regularly with the independent auditors,
including once at the planning stage before the audit and once
after the audit at the reporting stage. The committee meets
the independent auditors, without management being present,
to discuss their remit and any issues arising from the audit.
It is the duty of the committee to review and approve the
annual audit plan and ensure that it is consistent with the
scope of the audit engagement and it reviews the findings
of the audit with the independent auditors. This shall include
but not be limited to, the following:
—— a discussion of any major issues which arose during the audit;
—— a discussion and review of any problems or difficulties with
management’s response to audit issues, and overseeing
any disagreements between management and the auditors
if they arise;
—— any accounting and audit judgements; and
—— levels of errors identified during the audit.
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The committee has considered the independence requirements
of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors and carried
out procedures as considered necessary to satisfy itself that the
auditors of Spanjaard Limited were independent as defined by
the Companies Act of South Africa.

Non-audit services provided by the external auditors
The committee must distinguish between audit and non-audit
services, and has developed and implemented a policy on the
supply of non-audit services by the independent auditors, taking
into account any relevant ethical guidance on the matter.
It has pre-approved the contracts for non-audit services to
be rendered by the independent auditors and has considered
whether the auditors’ provision of non-audit services is
compatible with the auditors’ independence.
The committee confirms that the non-audit services rendered
by the Company’s external auditors during the year under
review were not material.

Financial statements
and accounting practices
The committee monitors the integrity of the financial
statements of the Company, including its annual and halfyearly reports, preliminary results announcements and
any other formal announcement relating to its financial
performance, reviewing significant financial reporting
issues and judgements which they contain.
The committee is obliged to review the summary financial
statements, significant financial returns to regulators and
any financial information contained in certain other
documents, such as announcements of a price sensitive
nature, provided that such monitoring and review is not
inconsistent with any requirement for prompt reporting
under the JSE Listings Requirements.
The committee assesses whether any major issues exist
regarding accounting principles and financial statement
presentations, including any significant changes in the
Company’s selection or application of accounting principles;
major issues as to the adequacy of the Company’s internal
controls; and any special audit steps adopted in light of
material control deficiencies. This was done in conjunction
with reviewing the analyses prepared by management, the
independent auditor setting forth financial reporting issues
and judgments made in connection with the preparation
of the financial statements. No such issues were identified.
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Internal control and internal audit
The responsibility for the operation of these systems of
internal controls lies with the Executive Directors who review
them regularly to be satisfied that they are appropriate to
provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement
or loss. Because of this compensating control and the small
size of the Group, it is the view of the Board that internal audit
engagements will be conducted from time to time as the
committee deems necessary.
The control systems include established policies and
procedures, limits of authority, delegation and detailed
reporting mechanisms, with comparisons against expectations
and budgets. These control systems are communicated
throughout the organisation and are relied upon to provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance.
Since 1994 the Company has implemented ISO
quality management systems as an additional system to
complement its internal controls. The SABS renewed the
certification ISO 9001:2015 on 7 August 2018 without major
non-compliances. Our current certificate is valid until
1 November 2021.
The committee understands the scope of the internal and
independent auditors’ review of internal control over financial
reporting and obtains reports on significant findings and
recommendations, together with management responses.
The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
Group’s systems of internal financial controls which have been
established in order to provide reasonable assurance for the
safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or disposal
and the maintenance of proper and reliable accounting
records and financial information. These controls have been
effective in the current financial year and remain effective
on 31 May 2019.
The committee confirms that the system of internal control
applied by the Company over financial management is
effective, efficient and transparent.
Due to the implementation of a large outsourcing contract
related to distribution during the current year, no internal audit
engagement was conducted. Management is committed to
performing an internal audit engagement in the upcoming
financial year.
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Ethics oversight
The committee continuously reviews the Company’s
arrangements for its employees to raise concerns, in
confidence, about possible wrongdoing in financial reporting
or other matters and ensures that these arrangements allow
proportionate and independent investigation of such matters
and appropriate follow-up action. It must also review the
Company’s procedures for detecting and preventing fraud
and bribery and receiving reports on non-compliance.
A process is in place allowing the committee to be informed
of any reportable irregularities (as identified in the Auditing
Profession Act, 2005) identified and reported by the
independent auditors.
Refer to page 21 of the corporate governance report for more
information on ethical leadership and governance.

Going concern
The Board has formally considered the going concern
assumption for Spanjaard and its subsidiaries. The Board
has no reason to believe that the Company and Group will
not operate as a going concern in the foreseeable future.

Evaluation of Financial Director,
finance function and the committee
The committee has satisfied itself, that the Financial Director,
Ian Saunders, has the appropriate expertise and experience,
and it has considered and satisfied itself of the appropriateness
of the expertise, experience and adequacy of resources
of the Company’s finance function.
The committee has, likewise, reviewed its own performance,
constitution and terms of reference and it is satisfied that
it is operating at maximum effectiveness.

Integrated reporting
The committee has reviewed the integrated annual report
for the 2019 financial year to ensure that it is consistent with
operational, financial and other information made available
to the committee. The committee has satisfied itself of the
integrity of the integrated annual report, ensuring that the
report is prepared using appropriate reporting standards,
which conform to the requirements of King IV and the JSE
Listings Requirements. The committee has recommended
the 2019 integrated annual report to the Board for approval,
based on the processes and assurances obtained.

Oversight of risk management

In light of the above, the committee confirms that it:

The Group’s focus of risk management is on identifying,
assessing, managing and monitoring all known categories
of risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully
eliminated, the Group endeavours to reduce it by ensuring that
the appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical
behaviours are applied and managed within predetermined
procedures and constraints.

—— has reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial
statements to be included in the integrated annual report;

The committee plays an oversight role in matters related to risk
as well as financial and internal controls. Refer to page 09 of
this integrated annual report for more information
on risk management.

—— has reviewed the external auditor’s report;
—— has reviewed and is satisfied with the level of expertise
and experience of the Financial Director and the
finance function;
—— has reviewed the Company’s compliance with legal
and regulatory provisions;
—— has noted that all adjustments resulting from the audit
were implemented and that no material unadjusted audit
differences remained; and

Combined assurance

—— concurs with and accepts the external auditor’s report
on the annual financial statements.

It is a duty of this committee to ensure that a combined
assurance model is applied to provide a coordinated approach
to all assurance activities, and that the combined assurance
received is appropriate to address all the significant risks facing
the Company, while actively monitoring the relationship between
the external assurance providers and the Company.

Shaila Hari
Chairperson of the Audit Committee
31 May 2019
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REMUNERATION REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Introduction from the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee
In accordance with the reporting requirements of King IV,
we present our remuneration report for the year ended
28 February 2019. The report comprises three sections
namely: the background statement, the remuneration policy
and concluding with the implementation report.
As required by King IV, shareholders will be asked to vote,
by way of a non-binding advisory vote, on the remuneration
policy as well as the Implementation report at the AGM, taking
place on 8 August 2019. As required by the Companies Act,
non-executive remuneration for the coming year will also
be put to shareholders by way of a special resolution.
We require 75% affirmative vote for both the remuneration
policy as well as the implementation report. Should we fail to
achieve the required majority vote, we will outline the process
and timing of our proposed engagement with shareholders
at the same time that we announce the results of our AGM.

Annual general meeting —
voting on remuneration
In terms of the Companies Act, fees for non-executive
directors for their services as directors must be submitted
for approval by special resolution by shareholders within
the two years preceding payment. Additionally, a resolution
to cast a non-binding advisory vote in respect of the
remuneration policy is presented to shareholders.

Results of the 2018 annual general meeting
At the annual general meeting held on 17 August 2018, the
resolutions that were presented to shareholders and voted
on are set out below:
6 049 030 out of 8 142 500 (74%) eligible shares attended
the meeting and voted as follows:

Special resolution number 3
Approval of the remuneration of non-executive directors
for services as directors for the following year
Votes in favour: 100%

Non-binding advisory vote
Remuneration policy
Votes in favour: 100%

Section 1: Background
The Remuneration Committee (the committee) was
reconstituted during the previous financial year and a new
remuneration policy was developed and approved by the
Board for implementation. The financial year on which this
report is based was the first completed financial year after
the re-establishment of the committee.
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The Committee currently consists of Mrs Shaila Hari (Chairperson)
as well as Prof DP van der Nest, both Independent non-executive
directors. Due to the size of the Board and the limited complexity
of the Group, it was decided that two independent non-executive
directors making up the committee is sufficient to discharge all
duties required of the committee.
The Committee has an independent role, overseeing and
making recommendations to the Board for its consideration
and final approval. The Committee does not assume the
functions of management.
The role of the committee is to assist the Board to ensure that:
—— The directors, executives and prescribed officers are
remunerated fairly and responsibly with the long-term
interests of the Company in mind;
—— The remuneration report and disclosure of director
and other executive remuneration is simple to read
and understand, accurate and complete; and
—— An effective remuneration policy is in place, aligned with
the Company’s strategy, and is applied consistently
throughout the entity at all employee levels.
The Committee must perform all the functions necessary
to fulfil its role as stated above and includes the following:
(i)		Overseeing the establishment and maintenance of a
remuneration philosophy and policy that will promote the
achievement of the strategic objectives and performance
in line with Board objectives;
(ii)		Overseeing the preparation and recommendation to the
Board of the remuneration report, to be included in the
integrated annual report;
(iii)		Managing the stakeholder relations with investors and
other stakeholders deemed appropriate on remuneration
matters at the annual general meeting and throughout
the year;
(iv)		Ensuring that the remuneration policy is put to a
non-binding advisory vote at the annual general
meeting of shareholders;
(v)		Reviewing the effectiveness of the implementation of the
remuneration policy so as to establish whether the Board’s
set objectives are being met;
(vi)		Ensuring that the structure and mix of fixed and variable
pay, in cash, shares and other elements, meets the
Board’s objectives;
(vii)	Overseeing the setting of remuneration quanta and terms
and conditions for fixed and variable pay at all levels in the
Company, but especially at senior executive, prescribed
officer and Board level. This includes recommending the
mandate to the Board for union negotiations;
(viii)	Satisfying itself as to the accuracy of recorded performance
measures that govern the vesting of incentives;
(ix)		Ensuring that all benefits, including retirement benefits
and other financial arrangements, are justified and
appropriately valued;
(x)		Liaising with the Board on the succession plans
of senior management;
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(xi)		Liaising with other Board committees, including the Audit
and Risk Committee and the Social and Ethics Committee,
on remuneration affairs in the broader context of risk,
disclosure and social responsibility matters;
(xii)	Ensuring an appropriate comparator Group is selected
when comparing remuneration levels;
(xiii)	Ensuring that fixed and variable pay are compared against
relevant market comparators on a regular basis to establish
compliance with the remuneration policy and strategy;
(xiv)	Formulating and recommending to the Board the
remuneration of non-executive directors for final
approval by the shareholders;
(xv)	Ensuring that the Chair of the committee, or in his/her
absence an appointed deputy, attends the annual general
meeting or similar forums to answer questions about
remuneration; and
(xvi)	Ensuring that the minutes of subsidiary Company
Remuneration Committees are reviewed; and ensuring that
the Chair of the committee reports to the Board after each
meeting of the Remuneration Committee on its critical
issues, including compliance with the terms of reference.
The attendance at the committee meeting during the year
is as follows:
Name

10 October 2018

Shaila Hari (Chairperson)

Attended

Prof DP van der Nest

Attended

The Chief Executive Officer attended the meeting on 10 October
2018 by invitation.

Factors influencing remuneration
South Africa’s stagnating economy, together with lower inflation
during 2018 influenced the quantum of increases that were able
to be afforded to the Group’s staff. Around one third of the
Company’s staff are members of the Chemical, Energy, Paper,
Printing, Wood and Allied Workers Union (CEPPWAWU). The
Group has a good working relationship with the union and
salary increases and other working conditions were agreed to in
March 2018 without incident. For executives, remuneration was
set by the CEO and ratified by the Remuneration Committee and
thereafter the Board. Although the Group is not a member of any
bargaining councils at present, it does monitor the substantive
agreements signed with members of the chemical industry and
ensure that remuneration levels and practices are kept in line
with industry standards.

Key focus areas and decisions
taken by the Remuneration Committee
A new remuneration policy was drafted and approved for
implementation during the 2019 financial year. The key area of
focus during 2019 will be to further develop the remuneration
policy and develop the key performance indicators (KPIs) for
which short-term incentives may become payable in the
future. A comprehensive Job Grading exercise has been
undertaken during March and April 2019 and this will play
a major role when making the salary adjustments in July.
Future projects will include the design and implementation
of a performance measurement and management system.

Use of remuneration consultants
An external consultant was utilised to assist with the job grading
process completed in April 2019 and will be used on a project
basis going forward.

Section 2: Remuneration policy
Introduction
The below remuneration policy was adopted for the 2019
financial year and replaces the informal remuneration policy
that preceded it.
The remuneration policy addresses remuneration of Spanjaard
employees throughout the business. The remuneration policy
is intended to support the key strategic objectives of the
business by ensuring that the Group remunerates fairly,
responsibly and transparently. This should result in the Group
achieving positive short-, medium- and long-term outcomes.
The intended outcomes of the Group’s remuneration policy are
that the Company can retain and attract the best people for the
job, as well as to ensure that executive remuneration is fair and
responsible in the context of overall employee remuneration
in the Group. The remuneration policy should also promote
an ethical and responsible corporate citizenship.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for setting and
reviewing the remuneration policy and strategy which the
Board must approve.

Remuneration philosophy
The Company aims to be able to recruit, reward, maintain
and motivate staff members in all operations of the business.
For this to be effective remuneration should be and be seen
to be fair across the broad spectrum of employees. Although
fairness can be seen to be subjective, it can be achieved by
remuneration being free from discrimination, self-interest,
prejudice and favouritism.
Remuneration should be as objective as possible with the
principle of equal work for equal pay being applied as best
as possible taking other factors such as length of service
and performance into account.
The Company benchmarks all positions against other
employees both within the Company and against similar
companies in the sector.
The Company also acknowledges that all workers should
receive a minimum level of remuneration that enables them to
participate in the economy and therefore enforces a Companywide minimum salary significantly larger than the proposed
national minimum wage.
Spanjaard’s Social and Ethics Committee regularly interacts
with the Remuneration Committee and ensures that executive
remuneration in relation to all employees has been considered
and executed in the Group.
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Remuneration structure
All employees including management and executive directors
are employed on a total guaranteed package (TGP) basis.
Guaranteed package levels are recommended by the
Chief Executive Officer after taking all market benchmarks,
individual experience, current performance, future career
progression and resource availability into account.
On 1 March every year, an adjustment is made to all
employees’ salaries considering guidance from supervisors
and executive management. Negotiations with unions are also
conducted before adjustments are made. Once discussed at
an executive Committee level, proposed salaries are presented
to the Remuneration Committee for final approval.
TGP (applicable to all staff) is made up of a cash component,
car allowance (if applicable), provident fund contribution as
well as risk benefits. Staff members have various options of
benefit categories to choose from, with retirement contribution
percentages changing as well as the inclusion or exclusion
of certain risk benefits.

Short-term incentives (STIs)
STIs are applicable in various formats. The STI Programme
for top management (executives) is cash-based awards
determined by Company and individual performance.
—— Before any incentive payments are considered, the financial
performance of the Group is considered.
—— An overarching requirement is that a certain level of
Group profit after tax is considered before any STI becomes
applicable. This is set at R4 million per financial year.
—— 70% of the STI is based on the outperformance of the Company
over the minimum level of profit after tax (Group component).
—— 30% of the STI is based on individual performance measures
according to the KPIs set by the Remuneration Committee and
the Board (Personal Component). These vary depending on
each of the executive’s roles and functions and include sales
increases, cost reductions, new product introductions and
performance, whilst negative performance will negatively
impact the individuals’ performance score.
—— The maximum STI available to the CEO and the Financial
Director is 20% of their Total Annual Guaranteed Package and
15% for all other executive directors. This means that the 70%
and 30% split is applied to the abovementioned percentages.
—— It is the Company’s philosophy that as the executives all work
as a team in most aspects of the business, the overarching
financial success of the Company is attributed to the team
at large.
—— Individual performance measures can also include various
financial measures applicable to the individual’s responsibilities
for example, export sales growth, reduction in wastage,
improved quality metrics, new product introduction and
performance and safety targets.
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—— The financial targets are approved by the Remuneration
Committee and are ratified by the Board on an annual basis
and take into account specifically, HEPS growth, cash flow,
and operating profit. The Committee has the power to make
adjustments to the proposed STIs as deemed necessary,
taking all circumstances into account.
All other staff may be awarded STIs based on exceptional
performance outside the boundaries of their general duties
(not “business-as-usual”) at management’s discretion.
The underlying need of the business to invest capital back into
the business should be considered before any incentives are
approved for payment.
Cash STIs, if applicable, will be paid in the month following
the publication of the Group’s audited financial statements.
All specifics regarding the implementation of the policy including
specific KPIs and financial targets are agreed with the executives
annually and form part of their employment contracts.
The Committee has taken care in setting the targets and will
continue to make sure that sufficient controls are in place to
prevent behaviour contrary to the Group’s risk management
approach and does not drive unethical or unnecessarily
risky behaviour in order to achieve incentive targets.
If at any stage, financial performance indicators are restated
in future years for whatever reason, the Company will recover
any incentives already paid that would not have been applicable
should the correct indicators have been published at the time.

Long-term incentives (LTIs)
The Company does not currently have any LTI programme
in place due to the following reasons:
—— The Company’s shares are fairly illiquid and do not trade
regularly on the JSE.
—— The share price does not reflect the net asset value of the
Company and it does not move in line with the performance
of the Company.
—— Due to this volatility none of the traditional LTI structures,
such as share plans and appreciation rights schemes, make
sense for the Company to implement.
—— The Remuneration Committee will continue to investigate
if and how best to implement LTIs over the coming financial
year but believes that STIs are the most appropriate way
to reward performance at this stage.

Non-executive directors
Non-executive directors are paid a fixed monthly retainer for
their services. The non-executive remuneration is benchmarked
using surveys provided by the Institute of Directors of South
Africa or other relevant surveys available at the time. Due to the
small size and nature of the Spanjaard Board, this is considered
appropriate for the Company. Non-executive directors do not
participate in LTI or STI plans.

33

The Board recommends the fees payable to the Chairman
and non-executive directors for approval by the shareholder

R’000

The following tables disclose the total remuneration received
and receivable by non-executive directors:

Basic salary

2019

2018

2018

823

331

Retirement funding

31

10

Guaranteed package

854

341

—

—

854

341

%

1 307

1 272

148

143

1 455

1 415

—

44

1 455

1 459

921

876

Short-term incentives
Total remuneration

PROF. DP VAN DER NEST
Basic fees

195

184

Total remuneration

195

184

6

S HARI
195

184

Total remuneration

195

184

Basic salary

Guaranteed package
6

Short-term incentives
Total remuneration

BL MONTGOMERY *
Basic fees

98

184

Total remuneration

98

184

150

2,8

0,0

CKT PALMER
(47)

Basic salary
Retirement funding

* Resigned 31 August 2018.

Guaranteed package
Short-term incentives

Section 3: Implementation report

Total remuneration

The following tables disclose the total remuneration received
and receivable by executive directors:

145

135

1 066

1 011

—

—

1 066

1 011

5,4

5,4

1 Deceased 25 September 2017.
2 Appointed CEO on 3 November 2017. Increase only effective 1 March 2018.

Executive director remuneration

3 Appointed as Marketing Director 12 October 2017.
2019

2018

Basic salary

—

1 497

Retirement funding

—

—

Guaranteed package

—

1 497

Short-term incentives

—

—

Total remuneration

—

1 497

1 588

1 324

229

191

1 817

1 515

—

—

1 817

1 515

Basic salary

978

915

Retirement funding

104

96

1 082

1 011

—

—

1 082

1 011

R’000

150

GF CORT
Retirement funding

Basic fees

%

TN STEWART 3

Non-executive director remuneration
R’000

2019

%

RJW SPANJAARD 1
Shaila Hari
(100)

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
31 May 2019

(100)

K WELGEMOED 2
Basic salary
Retirement funding
Guaranteed package
Short-term incentives
Total remuneration

20

20

I SAUNDERS

Guaranteed package
Short-term incentives
Total remuneration

7

7
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Social and Ethics Committee
The Social and Ethics Committee (the Committee) was formed
in 2012 to assist the Board with the oversight of social and
ethics matters around sustainability, corporate governance,
legislation and prevailing codes of best practice relating to
the Company.
The Committee promotes responsibility, accountability, fairness
and transparency that promotes and sustains:
—— social and economic development;

The Committee reports to the Board on environmental concerns
that could affect the business of the Company on a local and
international scale. In compliance with European standards and
in conjunction with the European Union Regulator, The European
Chemicals Agency, REACH requirements have been successfully
implemented on all Spanjaard products imported into the
European Union during the year under review. In order to ensure
that the Company successfully competes in the international
market, it is currently focused on making all of its export labels
GHS compliant.
In meeting the challenges of an ever-changing world,
mitigating environmental risks and preserving natural
resources, Spanjaard monitors its carbon usage and the
effects it has on the environment. We have established that
Spanjaard is below the taxable and reporting threshold of
greenhouse gas emissions, but the Committee continues
to monitor the Company’s carbon usage and impact on
the environment.

—— good corporate citizenship;
—— environmental responsibility;
—— fair labour practices; and
—— good consumer relations.
As at year-end the Committee comprised:
—— S Hari (Independent Non-executive Chairperson)
—— TN Stewart
—— CKT Palmer
Biographies of the abovementioned directors can be found
on page 13 of this report.

Meeting attendance
The Committee meets quarterly and has addressed all relevant
items in line with its terms of reference and reported accordingly
to the Board and its shareholders at the Company’s annual
general meeting.
As per its mandate and terms of reference, the Committee
has conducted an annual self-assessment and considers itself
effective. The Board has re-elected the Committee members to
continue with the principles of good governance and a sound
ethical foundation.
The Committee evaluates and effectively manages its
operational, health and safety matters, and analyses any
shortcomings previously identified. The Company appointed
an Employment Equity Manager in the prior year to lead the
Employment Equity and Skills Committee comprising
employees who were nominated as members and
has an approved employment equity plan.

Radical economic transformation remains a crucial challenge
for the Company and in striving to continuously promote
an environment of socio-economic equity, the Company
endeavours to align itself with this regulatory framework around
broad-based black economic empowerment (B-BBEE). Attention
will be given to skills development and training and the Company
is also working towards partnering with local small and microenterprises. The Committee is addressing all elements of
the scorecard to guide the organisation towards improving
compliance and enhancing its annual contributor rating.
The Committee is addressing and formulating policies that
will form the basis and guidelines to ensure compliance
with legislation and good business practice.
The Committee’s responsibilities remain clear and in support
of the Company’s mandate on good corporate governance.
It ensures that an ethical foundation exists upon which the
Company operates and transacts with integrity for the
benefit of its stakeholders.

Sustainability report
Sustainability reporting is an ongoing process for setting
organisational strategy, implementing action plans and
assessing outcomes. It lends support to continuous
improvement in performance over time.

Social and Ethics Committee meeting attendance
25 May 2018

16 Aug 2018

27 Nov 2018

19 Feb 2019

Total
meetings

Total
attended

% Meetings
attended

S Hari

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

4

4

100

TN Stewart

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

4

4

100

CKT Palmer

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

4

4

100

Members
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The Company’s approach to sustainability recognises
the following:
—— realising a positive return on shareholders’ investment;
—— the importance of customers, suppliers, service providers
and other key stakeholders; and
—— maintaining staff relationships.

Labour relations
The Company’s employees are members of the Chemical,
Energy, Paper, Printing, Wood and Allied Workers Union
(CEPPWAWU) and the Company has maintained a good
working relation with the union.
Apart from continuously working towards better working
conditions in the workplace, we are also determined to address
the skills development and training efforts that will ultimately
benefit the quality of lives of all our employees.
We are very proud of the fact that many of our employees have
displayed their loyalty to the Company by serving with us for
more than a decade and we generally have a very low staff
turnover rate.

B-BBEE
In recognising the risk of a noncompliant B-BBEE scorecard,
the Company is focusing on achieving a compliant status during
the 2020 financial year by addressing the shortcomings found.
Attention will be given to skills development and training and
we have partnered with local small and micro-enterprises.
This process is being monitored under the auspices of the
Social and Ethics Committee.

Employment Equity
In order to be compliant with the Employment Equity Act,
various measures have been implemented in the workplace
to ensure that the objectives of the Act are attained. The
Company continues to engage with the Department of Labour
to ensure compliance with regard to all provisions of this Act.
We have continued to focus on increasing awareness of
equitable and fair treatment among our workforce in order
to eliminate any possible unfair discrimination. We have
implemented affirmative action measures to redress the
disadvantages in employment experienced by designated
groups and women and people with disabilities.

Health, safety and environment
Continued emphasis is being placed on providing a safe
operating environment for our employees and conserving our
environment and natural resources. A gap analysis on safety,
health, environment and quality (SHEQ) has identified several
shortcomings, which are being addressed.
We have adopted a more inclusive approach with respect to staff
communication to ensure that staff are regularly included in and
educated about Company activities. Staff input is encouraged
and any complaints are addressed by management. The are
multiple channels through which employees are able to
communicate including a whistleblowing facility that was
recently established.

Employee health and benefits
Our employees play an integral part in the success and future
growth of the Company. The Group continues to provide
employee benefits to its workforce including:
—— provident fund;
—— medical aid;
—— disability, death and funeral cover; and
—— skills development and training.

Employee safety
The safety of our employees is a core priority. Through our
established Occupational Health and Safety Committee which
meets quarterly to assess any risk areas and required actions
to mitigate them, we promote and maintain a safe operating
environment. It is the goal of the committee to provide training
in respect of fire and first aid, and to develop systems and
standards throughout our operations. The committee devises
the necessary emergency and recovery plans, and ensures
that precautions are taken to prevent injuries and incidents.
An action plan, with adequate controls, has been developed to
address the shortcomings identified in the SHEQ gap analysis
which was conducted.

Environmental management
We acknowledge the effects that the Group’s operational and
other activities have on the environment. We recognise that we
have a responsibility to minimise the Group’s environmental
impact and the need to adapt to the risks associated with
climate change. The Group is committed to developing
methods to reduce these effects systematically over time.

We have also performed annual staff evaluations in order
to address the employment equity challenges. Staff skills
development and training initiatives are being put in place
to provide more opportunities for staff to grow within the
organisation which enhances staff loyalty.
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Most of the total carbon emissions we generate relate to the
use of our current propellant in our manufacturing operations
and are within reasonable bounds of carbon usage. Although
our greenhouse gas emissions are within (or are excluded
from) the acceptable thresholds according to the Department
of Environmental Affairs’ National Greenhouse Gas Emission
Reporting Regulations, we continually aim to find alternative,
less harmful propellants to reduce the impact. We are
committed to monitoring our carbon usage and assessing
not only its impact on the environment but also the punitive
measures that are being considered by the proposed
imposition of stringent tax rules.
We continue with our efforts to reduce waste generated
in production through chemical recycling and good waste
disposal practices. Waste initiatives involve the recycling
of materials such as cardboard, paper, plastic and aerosol
cans as well as incorporating a grease sump trap to prevent
pollution of water systems.
As we do not envisage a significant movement (over the
short to medium term) to products differentiated on ethical
or environmental criteria within our sector, our Group business
strategy has deliberately focused on prioritising governance,
optimisation and efficiency initiatives, employee awareness and
supply chain issues, over product-related or “green branding”
initiatives, which has currently received a lesser emphasis.
We continue to implement more systematic approaches
for measuring key environmental performance data, with a
long-term view to setting quantitative performance targets.

Skills development
We remain committed to skills development, concentrating
on staff training and believe that a diversified and skilled
workforce provides the quality and services that create a
competitive advantage. We have accordingly submitted our
workplace skills plan to the Chemical Industries Education
and Training Authority to ensure the continuous growth
of the Group’s skills base.
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Socio-economic development and sponsorships
We, as a Group, continue to be a responsible corporate citizen
and provide bursaries to historically disadvantaged high-school
students on an annual basis. We continue to assess various
opportunities to contribute positively to the socio-economic
development of the country, especially in the areas in which
the Group operates.
Since inception, we at Spanjaard have partnered with motorsport
professionals through various product sponsorships. These
partnerships include teams and individuals competing at the
highest level in the global arena such as the Dakar Rally and
other international cross country racing events. Our current
sponsorships include:
—— Toyota Motorsport/Toyota Gazoo Racing South Africa
—— 4x4 Mega World Cross Country Racing
—— Stiaan Kriel Racing (VW Challenge)
—— Willie Hepburn — South African racing legend
This long affiliation with motorsport reflects our love of adventure
and determination to take on any challenge, which underpins
the very spirit of our Company’s brand.

Shaila Hari
Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee
31 May 2019
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The directors are required by the Companies Act of South
Africa, 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records
and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual
financial statements and related financial information included
in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the
Group as at the end of the financial year and the results of
its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). The external auditors are engaged to express an
independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and
explanations given by management, that the system of internal
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records
may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial
statements. However, any system of internal financial control
can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The directors have reviewed the
Company’s cash flow forecast for the year to 29 February 2020
and, in light of this review and the current financial position, they
are satisfied that the Company has access to adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with
IFRS and the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants
(SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting
Practices Committee (APC) and in the manner required by the
South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008 and are based upon
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and
supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The external auditors are responsible for independently
reviewing and reporting on the Company’s annual financial
statements. The annual financial statements have been
audited by the Company’s external auditors and their
report is presented on page 39.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible
for the system of internal financial control established by the
Company and place considerable importance on maintaining
a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet
these responsibilities, the directors set standards for internal
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a costeffective manner. The standards include the proper delegation
of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties
to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are
monitored throughout the Company and all employees are
required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring
the Company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk
management in the Company is on identifying, assessing,
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the
Company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated,
the Company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined
procedures and constraints.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 44 to 84,
which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were
approved by the directors on 27 May 2019 and were signed
on its behalf by:

Prof DP van der Nest
Non-executive Chairman

Kentin Welgemoed
Chief Executive Officer

Ian Saunders
Financial Director
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“ WE HAVE STREAMLINED
OUR OPERATIONS
AND REDIRECTED
COSTS TO IMPROVE
PROFITABILITY
AND EXPAND OUR
MARKET SHARE AND
INTERNATIONAL
FOOTPRINT.”
Ian Saunders
Financial Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SPANJAARD LIMITED

Report on the audit of the consolidated
and separate financial statements

Our audit approach
Overview

Our opinion

Overall Group materiality

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated and separate financial position of Spanjaard
Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together the
Group) as at 28 February 2019, and its consolidated and
separate financial performance and its consolidated and
separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

–– Overall Group materiality: R1 009 000, which
represents 0,8 % of total revenue.

What we have audited

MATERIALITY

GROUP
SCOPING

KEY AUDIT
MATTERS

–– A full scope audit was performed over all significant
components.
–– Specified audit procedures were performed on certain
account balances and transactions of one non-significant
component to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to express an opinion on the Group financial
statements as a whole.
Key audit matters

Spanjaard Limited’s consolidated and separate financial
statements set out on pages 44 to 84 comprise:
—— the consolidated and separate statements of financial
position as at 28 February 2019;

Group audit scope

–– Valuation of freehold land and buildings.

—— the notes to the financial statements, which include
a summary of significant accounting policies.

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and
assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated
and separate financial statements. In particular, we considered
where the directors made subjective judgements; for example,
in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved
making assumptions and considering future events that are
inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed
the risk of management override of internal controls, including
among other matters, consideration of whether there was
evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement
due to fraud.

Basis for opinion

Materiality

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial
statements section of our report.

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application
of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud
or error. They are considered material if individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
consolidated financial statements.

—— the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
—— the consolidated and separate statements of changes
in equity for the year then ended;
—— the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows
for the year then ended; and

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of
Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and
other independence requirements applicable to performing
audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA
Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements
applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code
is consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(Parts A and B).

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain
quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall Group
materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole
as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative
considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and
to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and
in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.
Overall Group materiality

R1 009 000

How we determined it

0,8% of total revenue

Rationale for
the materiality
benchmark applied

We chose revenue as the benchmark because, in our
view, it is the benchmark against which the performance
of the Group is most commonly measured by users,
due to the fluctuation of profit before tax over the
past 4 years. We chose 0,8%, which is lower than the
expected 1%, due to the concentration of shareholding.
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How we tailored our Group audit scope

Separate financial statements

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform
sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into
account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes
and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

We have determined that there are no key audit matters
in respect of the separate financial statements.

The Group’s financial statements are a consolidation of five
reporting components, comprising the Group’s principal
operating segments. Of these reporting components, we
selected three for full scope audit testing due to their financial
significance. Specific audit procedures on certain balances
and transactions were performed on one other reporting
component and analytical review procedures were performed
on the remaining component. All audit work was performed
by us as Group auditors.
This together with additional procedures performed at the
Group level, including testing of consolidation journal entries
and intercompany eliminations, gave us the evidence we needed
for our opinion on the Group financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2019, which includes the
directors’ report, the Audit and Risk Committee report and the
Statement of Compliance by Company Secretary as required
by the Companies Act of South Africa. Other information does
not include the consolidated and separate financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial
statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated and separate financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

VALUATION OF FREEHOLD LAND AND BUILDINGS
Refer to the following accounting policies and notes to the
financial statements:

We obtained an understanding of the process and procedures applied by management in determining the
fair value of the freehold land and buildings.

–– 1F: Property, plant and equipment;
–– 1T: Judgements and estimates, Fair value measurement;
–– Note 3: Property, Plant and Equipment; and
–– Note 33: Fair Value Hierarchy.
Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s freehold
land and buildings to be R19 500 000 as at 28 February 2019
and recorded a revaluation gain of R985 000 in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the year ended 28 February 2019.

In relation to management’s valuation, we read the valuer’s report and confirmed that the approach used
was consistent with the Group’s past practice.

Management utilised an independent external valuator to
assist them in performing their valuation of the freehold land
and buildings. The valuation is dependent on assumptions such
as capitalisation rates and land value per square metre, which
requires management judgement. We considered the valuation
of the freehold land and buildings to be a matter of most
significance in our audit of the current year due to the
significant judgement applied by management.

We assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external valuer and verified his qualifications.
We found management’s expert had the necessary qualifications and there was no evidence to suggest that
the objectivity of the valuer was compromised.
We assessed the methodologies used and the appropriateness of the key assumptions through comparison
to independently published data and commonly used valuation techniques including:
–– Assessing whether the rate per square metre used for properties valued on a comparable basis was within
a reasonable range; and
–– Testing the capitalisation rates used by management by comparing these to the 2018:4 Rode’s Report.
We noted that the land value per square metre was supported by the values included in the 2018:4 Rode’s
Report and that the capitalisation rates were in line with industry published data included in the 2018:4
Rode’s Report.
We found the methodology applied by management to be in line with industry standards and consistent with
the applicable requirements of IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement.
We tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s valuation calculation and noted no material differences.
We performed independent sensitivity analysis of the assumptions applied in the valuation, i.e. the land
value per square metre and the capitalisation rate. We discussed these with management and considered
the likelihood of such changes in the assumptions occurring. Based on the procedures performed, we
found that the above assumptions applied by management in the valuation model were reasonable.

Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2019

41

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated and separate financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South
Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and
separate financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements,
the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated and separate financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
and separate financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
—— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated and separate financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
—— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s and the Company’s internal control.
—— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
—— Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt

on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
and/or Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
—— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated and separate financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate
financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
—— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of
Spanjaard Limited for four years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: JL Roos
Registered Auditor
Johannesburg
31 May 2019
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual
Directors’ Report which forms part of the audited annual
financial statements of the Company and of the Group
for the year ended 28 February 2019.

Nature of business
The Company is a manufacturer and distributor of special
lubricants and allied chemical products for industrial and
consumer/automotive applications. Subsidiaries comprise
one company producing anti-friction powders which has
ceased manufacturing operations, one property company
which supports the business operations, one foreign company
trading in the Netherlands and one dormant company in the
United Kingdom which was closed down and deregistered
shortly after year-end.

General review and financial results
The financial statements on pages 44 to 84, together with
the notes thereto, set out fully the financial position, results of
operations and cash flows of the Group for the financial year
ended 28 February 2019 and require no further explanation.

Subsequent events
No reportable matter that is material to the financial affairs of the
Company or the Group has occurred between 28 February 2019
and the date of approval of the annual financial statements.

Share capital
There were no changes in the authorised or issued share
capital of the Group during the year under review (2018: Nil).

Dividends
The directors have not declared a dividend in the current
financial year (2018: RNil).

Property, plant and equipment
During the year the Group purchased property, plant and
equipment amounting to R3 094 000 (2018: R959 000). Future
capital expenditure will be funded from internal resources and,
if appropriate, borrowings.
During the year under review the Group showed an increase
through valuation of R985 000 (2018: RNil) on its freehold land
and buildings.

Holding company and
ultimate holding company
The Company’s holding company and ultimate holding
company is Spanjaard Group Limited, which held 71,8%
(2018: 71,8%) of the issued share capital at year-end.

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared using appropriate
accounting policies, supported by reasonable judgments and
estimates. The directors have a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue as a going concern.
The directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency
tests required by the Companies Act of South Africa.
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Subsidiary companies
Please refer to note 6 of the annual financial statements
for information relating to the Group’s financial interest
in its subsidiaries.

Directorate
The Board of Directors consists of two independent
non-executive directors and five executive directors.
On 31 August 2018 Mr BL Montgomery resigned from
the Board. The Company intends to fill the vacancy in due
course. Refer to pages 12 and 13 for the individual biographies
of all directors.
The interests of senior management totalled 531 402 shares
(2018: 33 218). There were no contracts during or at the end
of the financial year in which the directors of the Company
were interested. No change in the directors’ interests has taken
place between 28 February 2019 and the date of this report.

Special resolutions
No special resolutions were passed during or relating to the
financial year, other than those that were passed at the annual
general meeting on 17 August 2018.

Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ remuneration for the year under review in aggregate
was as per the table on page 43.
In terms of the memorandum of incorporation the fees
for non-executive directors’ services are determined by the
Company in an annual general meeting. Terms of executive
directors’ contracts are in line with all other employees.

Company Secretary
Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited was
appointed on 20 September 2016. The directors are satisfied
with the competence, qualifications and experience of the
Company Secretary. Their business and postal addresses are:
Business address:
Fourth Floor, Aloe Grove
Houghton Estate Office Park
2 Osborn Road
Houghton
2198
Postal address:
PO Box 225
Highlands North
2037

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., were reappointed as auditors
for the 2019 financial year.

43

Interests of directors
The interests of directors in the shares of the Company during the year were as follows:
Direct
beneficial

Indirect
beneficial

Total

%

DIRECTOR
2019
—

5 842 566

5 842 566

71,75

K Welgemoed

311 048

—

311 048

3,82

I Saunders

160 000

—

160 000

1,96

GF Cort

24 422

—

24 422

0,30

TN Stewart

35 932

—

35 932

0,44

531 402

5 842 566

6 373 968

78,27

495 832

5 842 566

6 338 398

77,84

8 696

—

8 696

0,11

24 422

—

24 422

0,30

Estate of the late RJW Spanjaard

2018
Estate of the late RJW Spanjaard
K Welgemoed
GF Cort
TN Stewart
BL Montgomery *

100

—

100

0,00

100 000

—

100 000

1,23

629 050

5 842 566

6 471 616

79,48

* Non-executive — resigned 31 August 2018.

Directors’ remuneration
Directors remuneration for the year under review in aggregate was as follows:
Short-term benefits

R’000

Fees

Basic Allowances

Medical

Risk

Bonus

Other

Postemployment
benefits:
Retirement

Total
2019

Total
2018

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
RJW Spanjaard *

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1 497

K Welgemoed

—

1 408

180

—

13

—

—

216

1 817

1 515

I Saunders

—

978

—

—

7

—

—

97

1 082

1 011

TN Stewart

—

823

—

—

5

—

—

26

854

341

GF Cort

—

1 222

—

85

18

—

—

130

1 455

1 459

CKT Palmer

—

921

—

—

18

—

—

127

1 066

1 011

—

5 352

180

85

61

—

—

596

6 274

6 834

Prof. DP van der Nest

195

—

—

—

—

—

—

195

184

S Hari

195

—

—

—

—

—

—

195

184

98

—

—

—

—

—

—

98

184

488

—

—

—

—

—

—

488

552

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

BL Montgomery **

* Deceased 25 September 2017. ** Resigned 31 August 2018.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Group

Company

Notes

2019

2018

2019

2018

Property, plant and equipment

3

31 047

28 994

11 514

10 070

Intangibles

4

1 886

1 141

1 882

1 136

Goodwill

5

437

437

—

—

Investment in subsidiaries

6

—

—

—

228

33 370

30 572

13 396

11 434

R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories

7

20 091

16 768

19 777

16 326

Trade receivables and other receivables

8

16 531

16 255

15 491

16 048

Cash and cash equivalents

9

538

635

494

124

Amount due by subsidiaries and related companies

Non-current assets held for sale

10

11

Total assets

—

—

8 113

9 035

37 160

33 658

43 875

41 533

—

126

—

—

70 530

64 356

57 271

52 967

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

12

5 675

4 164

1 247

476

Borrowings

13

2 350

389

2 350

389

8 025

4 553

3 597

865

14

10 524

11 487

10 091

10 306

9

6 780

7 035

4 604

5 180

Borrowings

13

900

345

900

302

Loans from Group companies

10

—

—

8 638

9 090

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft

18 204

18 867

24 233

24 878

Total liabilities

26 229

23 420

27 830

25 743

Net assets

44 301

40 936

29 441

27 224

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to the Company's equity holders
Ordinary shares

15

407

407

407

407

Share premium

15

6 464

6 464

6 464

6 464

16,17,18

37 430

34 065

22 570

20 353

44 301

40 936

29 441

27 224

Reserves
Total equity
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019
Group

Company

Notes

2019

2018

2019

2018

20

126 244

117 678

124 071

114 003

Cost of sales

(78 296)

(76 547)

(78 573)

(74 771)

Gross profit

47 948

41 131

45 498

39 232

792

329

1 337

1 170

R’000
Revenue

Other income
Distribution costs

(11 345)

(12 295)

(11 759)

(12 806)

Administrative expenses

(32 356)

(33 567)

(30 892)

(31 524)

Finance costs

21

(1 197)

(1 029)

(1 196)

(996)

Profit/(loss) before tax

22

3 842

(5 431)

2 988

(4 924)

Taxation

24

(1 340)

897

(771)

1 374

2 502

(4 534)

2 217

(3 550)

58

(15)

—

—

3,17

985

—

—

—

17

(180)

—

—

—

3 365

(4 549)

2 217

(3 550)

Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Movement in foreign currency translation reserve

16

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Revaluation on property, plant and equipment
Tax on revaluation on property, plant and equipment
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

Group
Cents
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share

Notes

2019

2018

25

30,7

(55,7)
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Share
capital

Share
premium

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

407

6 464

17

8 536

1 906

28 155

45 485

Total comprehensive loss for the year

—

—

(15)

—

—

(4 534)

(4 549)

— loss

—

—

—

—

—

(4 534)

(4 534)

— foreign currency translation reserve

—

—

(15)

—

—

—

(15)

R’000

Revaluation
reserve

Share-based
payment
compensation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

GROUP
Balance at 1 March 2017

Transfer in reserves (note 17)

—

—

—

(915)

—

915

—

407

6 464

2

7 621

1 906

24 536

40 936

Total comprehensive income for the year

—

—

58

805

—

2 502

3 365

— profit

—

—

—

—

—

2 502

2 502

— foreign currency translation reserve

—

—

58

—

—

—

58

— revaluation

—

—

—

805

—

—

805

(1 906)

1 906

—

Balance at 28 February 2018

Transfer in share-based payment compensation
reserves (note 18)
Transfer in revaluation reserves (note 17)

—

—

—

(929)

—

929

—

407

6 464

60

7 497

—

29 873

44 301

15

15

16

17

18

407

6 464

—

2 969

1 906

19 028

30 774

Total comprehensive loss for the year

—

—

—

—

—

(3 550)

(3 550)

— loss

—

—

—

—

—

(3 550)

(3 550)

Transfer in reserves (note 17)

—

—

—

(851)

—

851

—

Balance at 28 February 2019
Notes

COMPANY
Balance at 1 March 2017

Balance at 28 February 2018

407

6 464

—

2 118

1 906

16 329

27 224

Total comprehensive profit for the year

—

—

—

—

—

2 217

2 217

— profit

—

—

—

—

—

2 217

2 217

—

(1 906)

1 906

—

—

—

—

(712)

—

712

—

407

6 464

—

1 406

—

21 164

29 441

15

15

16

17

18

2019

2018

Dividend relating to interim declaration

0

0

Final dividend — payable in next financial year

0

0

Transfer in share-based payment compensation
reserves (note 18)
Transfer in reserves (note 17)
Balance at 28 February 2019
Notes

Cents
Dividend per ordinary share:
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

Cash receipts from customers

126 214

117 839

124 852

113 306

Cash paid to suppliers and employees

(123 271)

(119 158)

(120 804)

(114 821)

26

2 943

(1 319)

4 048

(1 515)

Interest paid

21

(1 197)

(1 029)

(1 196)

(996)

Tax received

27

—

207

—

207

1 746

(2 141)

2 852

(2 304)

R’000

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment

3

(138)

(959)

(250)

(919)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment

3

7

639

3

639

Proceeds on sale of non-current assets held for sale

11

90

—

—

—

4

(572)

(209)

(572)

(209)

(613)

(529)

(819)

(489)

Purchases of intangible assets
Net cash generated used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings repaid

29

(1 024)

(1 474)

(981)

(858)

Proceeds from borrowings

29

—

692

—

692

Loans from subsidiaries and related companies — loans received

—

—

89

508

Loans from subsidiaries and related companies — repayments made

—

—

(195)

(281)

Loans from holding company — loans received

—

244

—

244

Loans from holding company — repayments made

—

(149)

—

(149)

—

—

—

—

(1 024)

(687)

(1 087)

156

109

(3 357)

946

(2 637)

(6 400)

(2 997)

(5 056)

(2 419)

49

(46)

—

—

(6 242)

(6 400)

(4 110)

(5 056)

Dividends paid to Company's shareholders

28

Net cash generated (used in)/from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

9
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below.
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Judgements are discussed in point T of the accounting policies.

A. Basis of preparation
The annual financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the South
African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee (APC), the listing requirements of
the JSE Limited and the Companies Act 71 of South Africa, 2008. The annual financial statements have been prepared using a combination of fair value and the
historical costs basis of accounting as described in the accounting policies below.
The accounting policies are consistent with those of the prior year with the exception of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15. Refer to point W where this is discussed.
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and are presented in South African Rands rounded to the nearest thousand unless
specifically stated otherwise.

B. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated annual financial statements comprise the statements of financial position, the statements of profit or loss and comprehensive income, the statements
of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Control is achieved
when the Company:
—— Exercises power over the investee, which is described as having existing rights that give the current ability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly
affect the investee’s returns (such activities are referred to as the ‘relevant activities’);
—— has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;
—— has the ability to exert power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
The Group will reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above. The subsidiaries are 100% owned and therefore there are no minority interests. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

C. Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries are recognised at cost. These investments are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses in the separate
annual financial statements of the Company.

D. Foreign currency translation
(1) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in South African Rands, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(2) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in profit and loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
(3) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:
(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the reporting date;
(ii)	income and expenses for each profit and loss item are translated at average exchange rates for the year (unless the average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effects of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions);
(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are taken to equity through other comprehensive income.
When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised as a reclassification adjustment to profit and loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

E. Borrowing costs
All interest costs are recognised using the effective interest rate method as there are no qualifying assets within the Group in the current or prior year. These costs
are recognised in profit or loss.

F. Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
—— it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; and
—— the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost including amounts incurred initially to acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and to bring the
item to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Amounts incurred subsequent to initial recognition
to add to or replace part of an asset or as part of major maintenance are also recognised at cost.
Land and buildings comprise mainly factories and offices and are shown at revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Land and buildings
are revalued every two years by an external, independent valuer or more frequently if carrying amount do not equal fair value. Plant and machinery is revalued when the
carrying amount does not equal fair value. All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment.
Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation of land and buildings and plant and equipment is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost or revalued amount of each asset to their residual values over their estimated useful lives
as follows:
Buildings

10 – 50 years

Plant and machinery

3 – 25 years

Motor vehicles

4 – 5 years

Office furniture and equipment

3 – 10 years

Land is not depreciated
Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of derecognition or when classified as held-for-sale. Depreciation is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Depreciation relating to the revalued portion of revalued assets are transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained earnings.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in operating profit. When revalued assets are sold,
the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit and loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. The cost of major renovations are included in the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits of the renovation of the existing asset will flow to the Group. Major renovations
are depreciated until new renovations are expected. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised.
The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that an entity would currently obtain from the disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated cost of disposal,
if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
The residual value of assets are reviewed by management after inspection of the asset on an annual basis and comparisons with market related prices. The assets useful
lives and depreciation methods are also reviewed by management on an annual basis and adjusted as a change in estimate as appropriate, at each financial year-end.

G. Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:
—— it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
—— the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
An intangible asset is derecognised when:
—— it is no longer expected that any future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and
—— when the asset is disposed of.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and they are subsequently carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each financial year-end.
Amortisation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income under the line item administrative expenses.
Artwork consists of product label designs, promotional material designs, logos and similar graphics.
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, as follows:
Trademarks

10 years

Computer software

3 years

Artwork

10 years

The residual value of an intangible asset is the estimated amount that an entity would currently obtain from the disposal of the intangible asset, after deducting the
estimated cost of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
The residual value of intangible assets are reviewed by management on an annual basis. The assets useful lives and depreciation methods are also reviewed by
management on an annual basis and adjusted as a change in estimate as appropriate, at each financial year-end.

H. Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the asset.
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually, and at the same
time each year.
If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
The value in use is determined as an estimate of future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate as derived from the use of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount as an impairment loss.
An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss
of a revalued asset is recognised first against the revaluation reserve and then against profit or loss.
An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the units. The impairment loss
is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:
—— first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit and
—— then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.
The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.
A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit
or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

I. Financial instruments
Initial recognition
The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangement.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Loans to Group companies
These include loans to holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries and are recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs.
Subsequently these loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts.
On loans receivable under IAS 39 an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. Objective evidence includes
South African Reserve Bank exchange regulations and the ability of the entities to remit their loans based on annual assessments. The impairment is measured as the
difference between the investment’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition. Under IFRS 9 an impairment loss is recognised using the 3-stage general impairment model.
Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the loan’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
Loans to Group companies are classified as loans and receivables at amortised cost (2018: loans and receivables).

Loans from Group companies
Loans from Group companies are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost, consistent with the treatment in the prior year.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Under IAS 39 appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Objective evidence includes
notifications received of financial difficulties and long overdue accounts. Receivables are only impaired to the extent not recoverable from Credit Guarantee Insurance
Corporation of Africa Limited (Referred to as ‘Credit Guarantee’ in these statements). Credit Guarantee insures the Group against the non recovery of receivables.
The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated recovery from Credit Guarantee using
the original effective interest rate.
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Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.
The Group applies the IFRS 9 — Financial instruments simplified approach to measuring expected credit loss which uses a lifetime expected credit loss allowance
for all trade receivables. At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant change in credit risk since initial recognition.
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
The Group considers that there is evidence of impairment if any of the following indicators are present:
—— significant financial difficulties of the debtor; and/or
—— probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation; and/or
—— default or delinquency in payments. (This is identified via the Group’s collection procedures after notification from Credit Guarantee that the debtors due amount
cannot be recovered.)
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss within other administrative and operating expenses. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against administration and operating expenses.
In the prior year, the impairment of trade receivables was assessed based on the incurred loss model. Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectable
are written off by directly reducing the carrying amounts. Other receivables are assessed collectively to determine whether there is objective evidence that an
impairment has been incurred but not yet identified. For these receivables the estimated impairment losses are recognised in a separate provision for impairment.
Receivables for which an impairment provision was previously recognised are written off against this provision when there is no expectation of recovering any
additional cash.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction cost, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Effective interest rate
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated cash flow through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset or liability.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially recorded at fair value plus any transaction cost. Cash and cash equivalents are
subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Cash and cash equivalents are classified as loans and receivables.
Overdraft is classified as a financial liability at amortised cost.

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.
Borrowings are categorised as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Derecognition of financial instruments
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows expire, are transferred or are discharged.
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J. Leases
Finance leases as lessee
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment
is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to profit and loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term if they will be returned.

Operating leases as lessee
Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases are charged to profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

K. Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes borrowing
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses.

L. Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

M. Taxation
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:
—— a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or
—— a business combination.
Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same
or a different period, to other comprehensive income.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the consolidated statements of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability.

N. Current tax assets and liabilities
If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.
If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods is less than the amount due for those periods, the shortfall is recognised as a liability.
Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

O. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred taxation is provided, using the statement of financial position liability method, on all temporary differences at the statement of financial position date between
the carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases, except for those that arise on initial recognition of goodwill or initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting profit nor tax profit. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the associated unused tax
losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates and tax law that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. Deferred taxes are recognised as an income or an
expense and included in profit or loss for the period except if they relate to a transaction or event which is recognised in either other comprehensive income or directly
in equity; or if the deferred tax arises from a business combination transaction.

P. Employee benefits
(1) Short-term employee benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service. Short-term employee benefit obligations
are measured on an undiscounted basis. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
The Group has a leave pay policy that allows for employees to utilise their leave over a 12-month period. This period is utilised by the employees and the leave accrual
is therefore expected to be settled within a period not exceeding 12 months; leave pay is therefore considered a short-term employee benefit. Short-term employee
benefit costs are recognised as the employee renders the related service calculated based on current salary rates.

(2) Provident fund obligations
The Group’s employees are members of a scheme that is funded through payments to a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a provident plan under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The regular contributions constitute net periodic
costs for the year in which they are due and as such are included in staff costs as the related service is rendered.

Q. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

R. Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the sale of goods and services, interest received and other income, net of value-added tax, rebates and after eliminating
intergroup sales for Group transactions. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable
for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts, volume rebates and value added tax.
Products consist of various aerosols, fuel additives, greases, car care products and anti-friction powders.
Sales are recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customer, the customer has full discretion over
the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions has lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.
Certain customers have rebate agreements in place. Revenue from sales to these customers is recognised based on the price specified in the contract net of the agreed
rebate amounts. A rebate liability (Included in trade and other payables) is recognised for expected rebates payable to customers in relation to sales made until the end
of the reporting period. No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of 30 days, which is consistent with market practice.
A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.
The need to exercise critical judgement in recognising revenue is limited.

S. Dividends
Dividends payable are recorded in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which they are declared.
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T. Judgements and estimates
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, not always equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below:

a) Asset lives and residual values (estimate)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual values, where applicable. The useful lives of assets and residual
values are based on management’s estimation and are assessed at year-end.

b) Fair value measurement (judgement)
Freehold land and buildings are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will by definition seldom equal the related actual results. In determining the open market value of freehold land and buildings the
Company used the services of JC Bokhorst Valuation Services (Pty) Ltd who used a number of valuation approaches in order to value the freehold land and buildings.
These valuation techniques underlying management’s estimation as well as the fair value hierarchy is provided in note 33.

c) Impairment of assets (judgement)
Management is required to make judgements concerning the cause, timing and amount of impairment. In the identification of impairment indicators, management
considers the impact of changes in current competitive conditions, cost of capital, availability of funding, technological obsolescence, discontinuance of services
and other circumstances that could indicate that impairment exists. Management’s judgement is also required when assessing whether previously recognised
impairment losses should be reversed. The future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets are projected taking into account market conditions and
the expected useful lives of the assets. The present value of these cash flows, determined using an appropriate discount rate, is the asset’s value in use.
All categories of assets are considered for impairment at each year-end. The recoverable amount is determined if there is a reason to believe that impairment may
be necessary.

U. Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, the operating results of
which are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker. The Chief Operating Decision Maker (CEO) and the Board of Directors assess the business
results by the different sale segments being automotive, industrial, exports, consumer goods and head office, manufacturing and other. Each of these segments
have separately identifiable revenue and cost structures which are monitored during the year. All inter-segment sales are accounted for on an arm’s length basis.
Please refer to note 2.

V. Standards, Interpretations and amendments issued but not yet effective
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are listed below. This listing is of standards and interpretations issued,
which the Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Group intends to adopt those standards when they become effective.
Standard or amendment

Details of standard or amendment

Effective date

Impact

Amendment to IAS 1 —
‘	Presentation of financial
statements’ and IAS 8,
‘	Accounting policies,
changes in accounting
estimates and errors’ on
the definition of material.

These amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 and consequential amendments
to other IFRSs:

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020.

The impact of this is still
being assessed.

–– use a consistent definition of materiality through IFRSs and the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting;
–– clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and
–– incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information.
The amended definition is:
“	Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity.”
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Standard or amendment

Details of standard or amendment

Effective date

Impact

Amendment to IFRS 3 —
‘	Business combinations’
Definition of a business.

This amendment revises the definition of a business. According to feedback
received by the IASB, application of the current guidance is commonly
thought to be too complex, and it results in too many transactions qualifying
as business combinations. More acquisitions are likely to be accounted for
as asset acquisitions.

Annual periods on or
after 1 January 2020
(Published October 2018).

The impact of this is still
being assessed.

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2019.

The impact of this is still being
assessed, but it is not expected
to result in any change as the
Group does not hold any
impacted instruments.

Annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019 —
earlier application permitted
if IFRS 15 is also applied.
(published January 2016)

The Group has reviewed
all lease commitments. All
operating leases are for all low
value assets or a short term.
The impact will therefore
not be material.

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2019
(published December 2017).

Improved disclosures.

To be considered a business, an acquisition would have to include an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs. The new guidance provides a framework to evaluate when
an input and a substantive process are present (including for early stage
companies that have not generated outputs). To be a business without
outputs, there will now need to be an organised workforce.
Amendments to IFRS 9 —
‘	Financial instruments’ on
prepayment features with
negative compensation and
modification of financial
liabilities.

The narrow-scope amendment covers two issues:

IFRS 16 — Leases

This standard replaces the current guidance in IAS 17 and is a far reaching
change in accounting by lessees in particular.

–– The amendments allow companies to measure particular prepayable
financial assets with so-called negative compensation at amortised cost or
at fair value through other comprehensive income if a specified condition
is met — instead of at fair value through profit or loss. It is likely to have
the biggest impact on banks and other financial services entities.
–– How to account for the modification of a financial liability. The amendment
confirms that most such modifications will result in immediate recognition of
a gain or loss. This is a change from common practice under IAS 39 today
and will affect all kinds of entities that have renegotiated borrowings.

Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction between a
finance lease (on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off balance sheet).
IFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease liability reflecting future
lease payments and a ‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts.
The IASB has included an optional exemption for certain short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets; however, this exemption can only be
applied by lessees.
For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. However, as the IASB has
updated the guidance on the definition of a lease (as well as the guidance on
the combination and separation of contracts), lessors will also be affected
by the new standard.
At the very least, the new accounting model for lessees is expected to impact
negotiations between lessors and lessees. Under IFRS 16, a contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17, ‘Leases’, IFRIC 4, ‘Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease’, SIC 15, ‘Operating Leases — Incentives’
and SIC 27, ‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease’.
Annual improvements cycle
2015 – 2017

These amendments include minor changes to:
–– IFRS 3, ‘Business combination’ — a company remeasures its previously
held interest in a joint operation when it obtains control of the business.
–– IFRS 11,’Joint arrangements’ — a company does not remeasure its
previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains joint control
of the business.
–– IAS 12,’ Income taxes’ — the amendment clarified that the income tax
consequences of dividends on financial instruments classified as equity
should be recognised according to where the past transactions or
events that generated distributable profits were recognised.
–– IAS 23,’ Borrowing costs’ — a company treats as part of general
borrowings any borrowing originally made to develop an asset when
the asset is ready for its intended use or sale.

Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2019

57

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
Standard or amendment

Details of standard or amendment

Effective date

Impact

IFRIC 23 — ‘Uncertainty
over income tax treatments’

IFRIC 23 provides a framework to consider, recognise and measure
the accounting impact of tax uncertainties. The Interpretation provides
specific guidance in several areas where previously IAS 12 was silent.
The Interpretation also explains when to reconsider the accounting for
a tax uncertainty. Most entities will have developed a model to account
for tax uncertainties in the absence of specific guidance in IAS 12. These
models might, in some circumstances, be inconsistent with IFRIC 23 and the
impact on tax accounting could be material. Management should assess
the existing models against the specific guidance in the Interpretation
and consider the impact on income tax accounting.

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2019
(published 7 June 2017).

The impact of this is still being
assessed, but it is not expected
to result in any change as the
Group has not identified any
uncertain tax treatments.

W. Change in accounting policies
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards on a basis consistent with the prior year except
for the adoption of the following new or revised standards.

Application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In the current year, the Company has applied IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised in July 2014) and the related consequential amendments to other IFRSs.
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial instruments and introduces new requirements for 1) the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities,
2) impairment for financial assets and 3) general hedge accounting.
In accordance with the transitional provision in IFRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated. The 28 February 2018 loss allowance, as calculated under IAS 39, has
not been adjusted to reflect the loss allowance arising from the new impairment rules as calculated under IFRS 9 due to the loss allowance not having a material impact.
The Company has applied IFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions set out in IFRS 9.
The Group’s business model is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows, which solely represent payments of principal and interest, and these financial
assets have therefore been accounted for at amortised cost.
Measurement category

Carrying amount

Original (IAS 39)

New (IFRS 9)

Original

New

Difference

Trade receivables

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

15 102

15 102

—

Cash and cash equivalents

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

635

635

—

Trade receivables

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

15 102

15 102

—

Amounts due by related companies

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

9 035

9 035

—

Cash and cash equivalents

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

124

124

—

Group
Current financial assets

Company
Current financial assets

Impairment
Refer to note 1.I for full description of the impairment policy.
The Group applied the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit loss which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
This resulted in no movement to the 28 February 2018 loss allowance, as calculated under IAS 39 to arrive at the loss allowance as per IFRS 9 on 1 March 2018.
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Loss allowance assessment
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 12 months and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. The expected credit loss has been calculated using the practical expedient of a provision matrix.
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 28 February 2019 and 1 March 2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was determined as follows for trade receivables:

R’000

Current

More than
30 days
past due

More than
60 days
past due

More than
90 days
past due

0,14

0,28

2,47

3,38

13 168

1 590

244

115

18,44

4,45

6,03

3,89

Total

28 FEBRUARY 2019
Expected loss rate (%)
Gross carrying amount — trade receivables
Loss allowance

33

1 MARCH 2018
Expected loss rate (%)
Gross carrying amount — trade receivables
Loss allowance

0,14

0,28

2,47

3,38

13 141

1 639

219

103

18,40

4,59

5,41

3,48

32

The Group has cover with CGIC thus it was determined that no loss allowance was deemed necessary due to the immaterial amount calculated above for both the
2018 and 2019 financial year. The loss allowance as at 28 February 2018 of R16 478 is also deemed immaterial thus no restatement was done.

Application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (as revised in April 2016) and the related consequential amendments
to other IFRSs. IFRS 15 replaces IAS11 Construction Contracts, IAS18 Revenue.
IFRS 15 introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Details of these
new requirements as well as their impact on the Company financial statements are described below. Refer to the Revenue accounting policy for additional details.
The Group has applied IFRS 15 with an initial date of application of 1 March 2018. This is the first year of adoption for IFRS 15 across all revenue streams. The Group
has applied IFRS 15 using the modified retrospective method. The net impact is immaterial, thus no adjustment was recorded to opening retained earnings.
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The way in which we have determined our operating segments has been re-evaluated based on recent changes to the organisational structure. We have broken the
business down into segments based on how management assesses sales performance. The comparative figures have been restated in line with this.
The Group is organised into five main business segments which are separately staffed and are easily identifiable based on our customer base.
—— Automotive: Comprises product sales to the automotive aftermarket industry such as to aftermarket wholesalers, workshops, automotive spares suppliers, etc.
—— Industrial: Comprises product sales to the industrial hardware, marine, mining, manufacturing and other industries.
—— Exports: Comprises product sales to all customers outside of South Africa excluding certain neighbouring countries forming part of the automotive and industrial segments.
—— Consumer goods: Comprises fast moving consumer goods generally unrelated to our traditional business.
—— Head office, manufacturing and other: Comprises all other sales and expenses generally not attributable to a specific sales segment.
The Group does not allocate assets and liabilities across the segments as these are assessed as a collective.
This is the level that the Chief Operational Decision Maker reviews results.
Head office,
manufacturing
and other

Total

Automotive

Industrial

Exports

Consumer
goods

36 177

44 192

19 396

26 163

316

126 244

4 972

464

19 396

—

—

24 832

External local customers

31 205

43 728

—

26 163

316

101 412

Segment cost of sales

(18 405)

(20 459)

(9 874)

(18 822)

(10 736)

(78 296)

(2 324)

(235)

(9 874)

—

—

(12 433)

External local customers

(16 081)

(20 224)

—

(18 822)

(10 736)

(65 863)

Segment gross profit/(loss)

17 772

23 733

9 522

7 341

(10 420)

47 948

2 648

229

9 522

—

—

12 399

15 124

23 504

—

7 341

(10 420)

35 549

—

—

—

—

792

792

Segment distribution costs

(1 687)

(2 207)

(4 451)

(287)

(2 713)

(11 345)

Segment administrative expenses

(4 900)

(5 631)

(1 249)

—

(20 576)

(32 356)

—

8

—

—

(1 205)

(1 197)

11 185

15 903

3 822

7 054

(34 122)

3 842

—

—

(124)

—

(1 216)

(1 340)

11 185

15 903

3 698

7 054

(35 338)

2 502

R’000

2019
Segment sales
External foreign customers

External foreign customers

External foreign customers
External local customers
Segment other income

Segment finance income/(costs)
Profit/(loss) before tax
Taxation
Profit/(loss) for the year
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Head office,
manufacturing
and other

Total

Automotive

Industrial

Exports

Consumer
goods

35 319

44 354

12 091

23 464

2 450

117 678

4 905

547

12 091

—

1 060

18 603

External local customers

30 414

43 807

—

23 464

1 390

99 075

Segment cost of sales

(17 751)

(21 360)

(6 556)

(18 920)

(11 960)

(76 547)

(2 146)

(247)

(6 556)

—

—

(8 949)

External local customers

(15 605)

(21 113)

—

(18 920)

(11 960)

(67 598)

Segment gross profit/(loss)

17 568

22 994

5 535

4 544

(9 510)

41 131

2 759

300

5 535

—

1 060

9 654

14 809

22 694

—

4 544

(10 570)

31 477

—

—

—

—

329

329

Segment distribution costs

(1 627)

(2 050)

(4 860)

(308)

(3 450)

(12 295)

Segment administrative expenses

(4 633)

(5 753)

(1 179)

—

(22 002)

(33 567)

—

—

—

—

(1 029)

(1 029)

11 308

15 191

(504)

4 236

(35 662)

(5 431)

—

—

(32)

—

929

897

11 308

15 191

(536)

4 236

(34 733)

(4 534)

Freehold land
and buildings

Plant and
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Office furniture
and equipment

Total

19 034

16 039

1 924

2 110

39 107

(5)

(5 130)

(1 159)

(1 715)

(8 009)

19 029

10 909

765

395

31 098

19 029

10 909

765

395

31 098

Additions

—

185

714

60

959

Disposals

—

(62)

(513)

(1)

(576)

(25)

(337)

—

(9)

(371)

(246)

(1 512)

(156)

(202)

(2 116)

18 758

9 183

810

243

28 994

R’000

2018 — RESTATED
Segment sales
External foreign customers

External foreign customers

External foreign customers
External local customers
Segment other income

Segment finance costs
Profit/(loss) before tax
Taxation
Profit/(loss) for the year

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
R’000

GROUP
At 1 March 2017
Revaluation/cost
Accumulated depreciation
Closing net book amount
At 28 February 2018
Opening net book amount

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (note 11)
Depreciation charge
Closing net book amount
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED
R’000

Freehold land
and buildings

Plant and
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Office furniture
and equipment

Total

19 000

15 306

(242)

(6 123)

1 790

2 082

38 178

(980)

(1 839)

(9 184)

18 758

9 183

810

243

28 994

18 758

9 183

810

243

28 994

—

2 647

—

447

3 094

GROUP
At 28 February 2018
Revaluation/cost
Accumulated depreciation
Closing net book amount
At 28 February 2019
Opening net book amount
Additions

—

(62)

(3)

—

(65)

Revaluations

985

—

—

—

985

Depreciation charge

(243)

(1 426)

(128)

(164)

(1 961)

19 500

10 342

679

526

31 047

19 500

17 783

1 681

2 529

41 493

—

(7 441)

(1 002)

(2 003)

(10 446)

19 500

10 342

679

526

31 047

Disposal

Closing net book amount
At 28 February 2018
Revaluation/cost
Accumulated depreciation
Closing net book amount

The Group’s land and buildings comprise Erf 547, Wynberg, Sandton, with a factory building, warehouses and offices erected thereon. The Group’s land and buildings
at Wynberg were revalued on 28 February 2019 by JC Bokhorst Valuation Services (Pty) Ltd (independent valuators) using a combination of the capitalised rental
approach, which is based on a market capitalisation rate of 10,5%, the depreciated replacement cost approach and also the estimated new replacement cost
approach. The land portion was valued based on the estimated new replacement cost and depreciated replacement cost approach due to the value being the
same in both valuation approaches.
During the financial year new packaging machinery was purchased at a cost of R2 555 000 as well as a new telephone system to at a cost of R376 000 in order to
replace outdated equipment.
Group assets encumbered by instalment sale agreements with a book value of R3 586 232 (2018: R2 521 997), are set out below:
Group
R’000

2019

2018

Plant and equipment

3 359

1 924

227

598

3 586

2 522

Motor vehicles

Additions include R2 775 917 (2018: R551 177) assets leased under finance leases where the Group is the lessee:
Group
R’000

2019

2018

Plant and equipment

2 776

239

—

312

2 776

551

Motor vehicles
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED
If freehold land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis the carrying amount would have been as follows:
Group
2019

2018

Cost

14 073

14 073

Accumulated depreciation

(2 376)

(2 097)

Closing carrying value

11 697

11 976

R’000

If plant and equipment were stated on the historical cost basis the carrying amount would have been as follows:
Group
2019

2018

Cost

16 049

13 644

Accumulated depreciation

(10 754)

(10 734)

5 295

2 910

R’000

Closing carrying value
Plant and
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Office furniture
and equipment

Total

Revaluation/cost

15 295

1 711

2 054

19 060

Accumulated depreciation

(4 770)

(1 101)

(1 674)

(7 545)

Closing net book amount

10 525

610

380

11 515

10 525

610

380

11 515

Additions

145

714

60

919

Disposals

(52)

(513)

—

(565)

Depreciation charge

(1 475)

(127)

(197)

(1 799)

Closing net book amount

9 143

684

243

10 070

Revaluation/cost

15 265

1 576

2 082

18 923

Accumulated depreciation

(6 122)

(892)

(1 839)

(8 853)

Closing net book amount

9 143

684

243

10 070

R’000

COMPANY
At 1 March 2017

At 28 February 2018
Opening net book amount

At 28 February 2018
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED
Plant and
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Office furniture
and equipment

Total

Opening net book amount

9 143

684

243

10 070

Additions

2 654

105

447

3 206

Disposals

(68)

—

—

(68)

Depreciation charge

(1 419)

(110)

(165)

(1 694)

Closing net book amount

10 310

679

525

11 514

R’000

COMPANY
At 28 February 2019

At 28 February 2019
Revaluation/cost

17 744

1 681

2 529

21 954

Accumulated depreciation

(7 434)

(1 002)

(2 004)

(10 440)

Closing net book amount

10 310

679

525

11 514

During the 2019 financial year a motor vehicle with a cost of R104 713 was purchased from Coppermet (Pty) Ltd. Plant and Machinery with a cost of R176 500 and
accumulated depreciation of R108 500 was also disposed.
Company assets encumbered by instalment sale agreements with a book value of R3 586 232 (2018: R2 400 110), are set out below:
Company
R’000

2019

2018

Plant and equipment

3 359

1 924

227

476

3 586

2 400

Motor vehicles

Additions include R2 775 917 (2018: R551 177) assets leased under finance leases where the Company is the lessee:
Company
R’000

2019

2018

Plant and equipment

2 776

239

—

312

2 776

551

Motor vehicles

If plant and equipment were stated on the historical cost basis the carrying amount would have been as follows:
Company
2019

2018

Cost

16 049

13 644

Accumulated depreciation

(10 754)

(10 734)

5 295

2 910

R’000

Closing carrying value
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
R’000

Trademarks

Artwork

Computer
software

Total

GROUP
At 1 March 2017
Cost

1 896

1 153

2 475

5 524

(847)

(1 004)

(2 051)

(3 902)

1 049

149

424

1 622

1 049

149

424

1 622

Additions

209

—

—

209

Amortisation charge

(262)

(32)

(396)

(690)

Closing net book amount

996

117

28

1 141

1 968

1 153

2 475

5 596

Accumulated amortisation

(972)

(1 036)

(2 447)

(4 455)

Closing net book amount

996

117

28

1 141

Opening net book amount

996

117

28

1 141

Additions

144

—

1 012

1 156

Disposals

—

—

(6)

(6)

Amortisation charge

(212)

(31)

(162)

(405)

Closing net book amount

928

86

872

1 886

Cost

2 008

291

3 418

5 717

Accumulated amortisation

(1 080)

(205)

(2 546)

(3 831)

928

86

872

1 886

Accumulated amortisation
Closing net book amount
At 28 February 2018
Opening net book amount

At 28 February 2018
Cost

At 28 February 2019

At 28 February 2019

Closing net book amount
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED
R’000

Trademarks

Artwork

Computer
software

Total

COMPANY
At 1 March 2017
Cost

1 886

1 153

2 475

5 514

(843)

(1 004)

(2 051)

(3 898)

1 043

149

424

1 616

1 043

149

424

1 616

Additions

209

—

—

209

Amortisation charge

(261)

(32)

(396)

(689)

Closing net book amount

991

117

28

1 136

1 958

1 153

2 475

5 586

Accumulated amortisation

(967)

(1 036)

(2 447)

(4 450)

Closing net book amount

991

117

28

1 136

Opening net book amount

991

117

28

1 136

Additions

144

—

1 012

1 156

Disposals

—

—

(6)

(6)

Amortisation charge

(211)

(31)

(162)

(404)

Closing net book amount

924

86

872

1 882

Cost

1 998

291

3 418

5 707

Accumulated amortisation

(1 074)

(205)

(2 546)

(3 825)

924

86

872

1 882

Accumulated amortisation
Closing net book amount
At 28 February 2018
Opening net book amount

At 28 February 2018
Cost

At 28 February 2019

At 28 February 2019

Closing net book amount

Trademark additions include various registrations and incorporations of the name Spanjaard and certain logos of the Spanjaard brand.
Artwork with a cost and accumulated depreciation of R861 000 was disposed of in the current financial year.
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5. GOODWILL
Group
R’000
Goodwill

2019

2018

437

437

The goodwill relates to the acquisition of Spanjaard EU BV. There was no movement on this balance during the current financial year (2018: R Nil). The recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit (CGU) was determined based on the value in use, which required the use of assumptions. For impairment testing goodwill is
allocated to Spanjaard EU BV, as Spanjaard EU BV represents the lowest CGU. Spanjaard EU BV forms an integral part of the operating activities in Europe and
management believes that there are future growth prospects as the brand awareness increases. Spanjaard EU BV contributed R5 282 959 (2018: R3 974 494)
towards the turnover of the Group.
The calculation used cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.
Cash flow beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate stated below. These growth rates are consistent with forecasts included
in industry reports specific to the industry in which the CGU operates. The below are the key assumptions for the CGU:
—— Sales growth rate of 2%
—— Discount factor of 13%
—— Gross margin remained constant
No impairment loss was recognised.

6. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
Investments in unlisted subsidiaries are made up as follows:
Company
2019

2018

—1

228

—

228

% Interest held

2019

2018

100

—

—

R’000
Shares at cost 2

The following information relates to the Group’s financial interest in its subsidiaries:
Country of incorporation
Directly held by Company
Coppermet Proprietary Limited

South Africa

Spanjaard EU BV

The Netherlands

100

—1

—1

Spanjaard UK Limited 2

United Kingdom

100

—

228

Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited

South Africa

100

—1

—1

—

228

1 Shareholding less than R1 000 is not reflected.
2 The Board resolved to deregister Spanjaard UK Limited on 10 October 2018 and impaired the investment to RNil. The Company has since been dissolved on 26 March 2019.

No restrictions exist on the Group’s ability to access or use assets and settle liabilities of the Group.
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7. INVENTORIES
Group

Company

R’000

2019

2018

2019

2018

Raw materials (at cost)

8 423

8 166

8 417

7 985

Finished goods (at cost)

11 668

8 602

11 360

8 341

20 091

16 768

19 777

16 326

Damaged and obsolete inventory amounting to RNil (2018: R261 564) was provided for during the financial year.
The write down of stock to its net realisable value in the current year amounted to R163 630 (2018: RNil).
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to R67 695 080 (2018: R65 179 103)

8. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group
R’000
Trade receivables
Prepayments

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

15 117

15 102

14 305

15 102

1 141

360

983

250

55

53

—

—

218

740

203

696

16 531

16 255

15 491

16 048

VAT receivable
Other

Currencies
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables for the Group and the Company are denominated in:
Group
R’000
US Dollars ($)
Euro (€)
South African Rand (ZAR)

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

1 464

898

1 464

898

812

205

—

205

12 841

13 999

12 841

13 999

15 117

15 102

14 305

15 102

Credit quality of trade and other receivables
The average credit period on sales is 30 days for local customers. The majority of our foreign customers pay in advance before goods are shipped, however certain
customers are granted extended terms based on their risk profile and banking relationships. Where customers are granted 180 days to pay by letter of credit we
discount the bill in order to receive payment early. Additional charges are recognised in finance costs. Before accepting a new customer, the credit application has
to be approved by the divisional managers of the sales department. Before any customer is allowed to buy on credit they have to be approved with a bank code (credit
limits smaller than R25 000) or by Credit Guarantee (credit limits greater than R25 000). Credit Guarantee receives financial information from market participants and
assesses their credit worthiness based on their financial records as well as reported defaults and other information that is available in the market. They will assess whether
the applied credit limits can be satisfactorily insured and will inform the applicant appropriately. Only once the credit limit has been granted by Credit Guarantee can the
credit limit be set. Should there be a change in the customer’s credit rating, Credit Guarantee informs us of this and the credit limit is withdrawn or adjusted accordingly.
No customer is allowed to buy on credit if the account is in arrears or if the order is greater than the approved credit limit. If a customer should default on payment and
collection efforts are unsuccessful, the Group will be paid out 80% of the outstanding balance by Credit Guarantee. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the
customer base being large and unrelated. This has also resulted in the loss giving default reducing due to the cover provided by Credit Guarantee.
The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to historical evidence of low write offs and the
claims history with Credit Guarantee and is determined to be good.
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8. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED
Fair value of trade and other receivables
The carrying amount of the trade receivables approximates its fair value due to the short-term nature of the balances at year-end.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired are as follows:
Group

Company

R’000

2019

2018

2019

2018

31 to 60 days

1 590

1 639

1 590

1 639

61 to 90 days

244

219

244

219

Over 90 days

115

103

115

103

Trade and other receivables impaired
An allowance of RNil is made for the impairment of receivables as at 28 February 2019 (2018: R16 478).
Refer to note 1W for the loss allowance assessment of trade receivables.

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Group
R’000

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

(6 780)

(7 035)

(4 604)

(5 180)

Bank balance

528

631

484

121

Cash on hand

10

4

10

3

(6 242)

(6 400)

(4 110)

(5 056)

538

635

494

124

(6 780)

(7 035)

(4 604)

(5 180)

(6 242)

(6 400)

(4 110)

(5 056)

(6 242)

(6 400)

(4 110)

(5 056)

Overdraft

Current assets
Current liabilities

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, the cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
Cash and bank balances
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10. AMOUNT DUE BY/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED COMPANIES
Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

Spanjaard EU BV

—

—

239

375

Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited

—

—

7 874

8 660

—

—

8 113

9 035

Coppermet Proprietary Limited

—

—

(8 638)

(8 765)

Spanjaard UK Limited

—

—

—

(325)

R’000
Subsidiaries

—

—

(8 638)

(9 090)

Current assets

—

—

8 113

9 035

Current liabilities

—

—

(8 638)

(9 090)

—

—

(525)

(55)

The loans granted to and from the fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
These loans arose from operational transactions.
The loan in Spanjaard UK Limited has been derecognised in the current financial year due to the decision to deregister the Company on 10 October 2018. Spanjaard UK
Limited was officially dissolved on 26 March 2019.

11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Freehold land
and buildings

Plant and
equipment

Office furniture
and equipment

Total

Assets classified as held for sale during the year

25

337

9

371

Impairment of non-current assets held for sale

(25)

(220)

—

(245)

Closing net book amount at 28 February 2018

—

117

9

126

Opening net book amount

—

117

9

126

Disposal of non-current assets held for sale

—

(110)

(7)

(117)

Impairment of non-current assets held for sale

—

(7)

(2)

(9)

At 28 February 2019

—

—

—

—

R’000

GROUP
At 1 March 2017

At 28 February 2018

All non-current assets held for sale were disposed of in the current financial year.
The assets held for sale were reflected at the lower of its carrying value and fair value less cost to sell in accordance with IFRS 5.
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12. DEFERRED TAX
Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

(1 561)

(1 229)

387

463

(131)

(41)

(127)

(41)

(5 672)

(5 524)

(2 856)

(2 856)

Tax loss

999

1 685

678

1 225

Accruals

690

945

671

733

(5 675)

(4 164)

(1 247)

(476)

R’000
Deferred tax liability comprises:
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid expenses
Deferred tax relating to revaluations

Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

Net deferred tax at beginning of year

(4 164)

(5 092)

(476)

(1 851)

Deferred tax (expense)/income charged to profit or loss

(1 331)

928

(771)

1 375

(180)

—

—

—

(5 675)

(4 164)

(1 247)

(476)

R’000
Reconciliation of deferred tax balance

Aggregate deferred tax charge to equity

13. BORROWINGS
Group
R’000

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

2 350

389

2 350

389

2 350

389

2 350

389

900

345

900

302

900

345

900

302

3 250

734

3 250

691

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities

Current
Finance lease liabilities

Total borrowings

Finance lease liabilities
Instalment sale agreements cover certain Group items such as plant and machinery, motor vehicles and office equipment, having a net book value of R3 586 232
(2018: R2 521 997), Company R3 586 232 (2018: R2 400 110). Instalment sale agreement on computer software have a net book value of R436 969 (2018: RNil).
The agreements bear interest at rates between 8,5% and 1,5% above the prime overdraft rate. The current weighted average rate is 10,69% (2018: 11,87%).
Group

Company

R’000

2019

2018

2019

2018

Total finance lease liabilities

3 250

734

3 250

691

(900)

(345)

(900)

(302)

2 350

389

2 350

389

Less: Current portion
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13. BORROWINGS CONTINUED
The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:
Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

900

345

900

302

2 350

389

2 350

389

3 250

734

3 250

691

Not later than 1 year

1 206

402

1 206

358

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

2 754

424

2 754

424

3 960

826

3 960

782

(710)

(92)

(710)

(91)

3 250

734

3 250

691

106

36

106

30

R’000
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

Finance lease liabilities — minimum lease payment:

Future finance charges on finance leases

The contractual payments per month on the above finance leases are:

Borrowing facilities
Spanjaard Limited and Coppermet Proprietary Limited has a combined borrowing facility up to R12 000 000.
The carrying amounts of borrowings are linked to the prime interest rate and market-related repayment terms.
The Group’s borrowing powers are unlimited in terms of its Memorandum of Incorporation.

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group

Company

R’000

2019

2018

2019

2018

Trade payables

6 586

6 487

6 295

6 315

Income received in advance

276

139

255

2

Accrued expenses

793

1 004

688

705

Provisions

818

1 265

818

840

VAT payable

404

461

388

440

—

8

—

8

1 647

2 123

1 647

1 996

10 524

11 487

10 091

10 306

Shareholders for dividends (note 28)
Accrued payroll expenses

Trade and other payables are settled net 30 days. Exceptions are paid on an ad hoc basis.
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.
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15. ORDINARY SHARES
Group
R’000

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

750

750

750

750

407

407

407

407

6 464

6 464

6 464

6 464

6 871

6 871

6 871

6 871

Authorised
15 000 000 ordinary shares of 5 cents each
Issued
8 142 850 ordinary shares of 5 cents each
Share premium

All issued shares are fully paid.
The unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors. The authority remains in force until the next annual general meeting.

Capital management policy
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:
—— to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
—— to provide a return to shareholders by continuing to declare dividends on a regular basis.
The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in the current economic conditions and the risk of characteristics of the
underlying assets through dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
There have been no changes in the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital from the prior year.
The Group believes it has met the objectives of its capital management policy as the Group believes it has the resources to continue trading as a going concern in the
foreseeable future and also due to the regular dividend payouts to its shareholders.

16. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE
The translation reserve comprises of exchange differences on consolidation of the foreign subsidiaries (Spanjaard EU BV and Spanjaard UK Limited):
Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

2

17

—

—

Movement for the year

58

(15)

—

—

Closing balance

60

2

—

—

R’000
Opening balance
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17. REVALUATION RESERVE
Group

Company

R’000

2019

2018

2019

2018

Opening balance

7 621

8 536

2 118

2 969

Release due to depreciation charge

(929)

(915)

(712)

(851)

Current year revaluation — net of tax (note 3)

805

—

—

—

7 497

7 621

1 406

2 118

The difference between depreciation as calculated on the original cost of property, plant and equipment and depreciation calculated on the revalued amount is transferred
to retained earnings on an annual basis.

18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT COMPENSATION RESERVE
Group

Company

2019

2018

Opening balance

1 906

Transfer to retained earnings

(1 906)
—

R’000

Closing balance

2019

2018

1 906

1 906

1 906

—

(1 906)

—

1 906

—

1 906

The share-based payment compensation reserve arose due to certain directors in Spanjaard Limited taking part in an executive share purchase scheme effective
25 August 2010. The valuation was performed by the Financial Modelling Agency using a Monte Carlo simulation. The share purchase scheme has fully vested and
was cancelled effective 29 February 2016.
In the current financial year the share-based payment compensation reserve was transferred to retained earnings.

19. COMMITMENTS
Group
R’000

2019

Company
2018

2019

2018

Operating lease — as lessee
Minimum lease payments due
— within one year

370

471

2 584

2 871

— in second to fifth year inclusive

115

183

115

183

485

654

2 699

3 054

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office equipment and property lease rentals. Leases are negotiated over an average
term of five years and rentals are fixed for the period of the lease.
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20. REVENUE
Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

Automotive

36 177

35 319

36 177

35 319

Industrial

44 192

44 354

44 192

44 354

Exports

19 396

12 091

17 233

10 641

Consumer goods

26 163

23 464

26 163

23 464

316

2 450

306

225

126 244

117 678

124 071

114 003

R’000

Head office, manufacturing and other

Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

101 543

99 193

101 534

98 027

10 786

7 070

10 733

6 010

Africa

8 383

7 150

8 383

7 150

Europe

5 242

3 967

3 131

2 543

290

298

290

273

126 244

117 678

124 071

114 003

R’000
South Africa
Asia

Other

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a point in time, net of rebates.
Revenue from external customers come from the sale of specialised lubricants and allied chemical products. Sales in the Automotive and Industrial segments come
from both the Group’s own brand, Spanjaard, as well as other private label brands. Sales in the Consumer goods segment relate only to private label brands.
This is the first year of adoption for IFRS 15 across all revenue streams. The Group has assessed the timing of revenue recognition in all segments and concluded that
revenue in all segments is recognised at a point in time. Refer to note 1W for further information on the application of IFRS 15.
The Group generates revenue primarily from the sale of goods in the industrial and automotive segments. Refer to note 2 for further detail regarding the Group segments.
Revenue from large customers in the 2019 financial year (customers contributing >R10 million to segment sales) comprises R16 million from one customer in the
Consumer goods segment.

21. FINANCE COSTS
Group
R’000
Bank overdraft
Bond
Hire purchase
Interest paid — discounted bills
Interest received
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2019

2018

2019

2018

817

806

817

806

—

11

—

—

316

128

315

119

72

84

72

71

(8)

—

(8)

—

1 197

1 029

1 196

996
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22. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
The following items have been included in arriving at profit /(loss) before tax:
Group
R’000

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

Depreciation and amortisation

Note 3,4

2 366

2 806

2 098

2 488

Employment costs

Note 23

30 988

33 934

30 674

33 037

Auditor's remuneration

1 016

1 042

876

810

Foreign exchange profit

(273)

(102)

(289)

(74)

78 296

76 547

78 573

74 771

1 062

1 158

3 180

3 191

—

—

228

—

—

—

(346)

—

Raw materials and consumables used
Operating lease expenditure
Impairment of investment in subsidiary
Intercompany debt relinquished by subsidiary

Note 6

9

245

—

—

Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

64

(63)

71

(75)

Loss on disposal of non-current assets held for sale

27

—

—

—

Impairment of non-current assets held for sale

23. EMPLOYMENT COSTS
Group
R’000

2019

Company
2018

2019

2018

Short-term employee benefits

28 686

31 216

28 387

30 364

Salaries and wages

28 218

30 647

27 942

29 810

85

135

68

133

383

434

377

421

Post employment benefits

2 302

2 718

2 287

2 673

Provident fund — defined contribution plans

1 706

2 196

1 691

2 151

596

522

596

522

30 988

33 934

30 674

33 037

6 274

6 834

6 274

6 834

5 678

6 312

5 678

6 312

596

522

596

522

Leave pay
Statutory contributions

Directors’ retirement benefits

Directors’ emoluments
Included in above
Short-term employee benefits
Post employment benefits

It is compulsory for all employees to be a member of the Liberty Life Provident Fund which is governed by the Pensions Fund Act of South Africa.
Refer to page 43 for a detailed breakdown of the Directors’ Emoluments.
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24. TAXATION
Group
R’000

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

1 340

(713)

771

(1 374)

—

(184)

—

—

1 340

(897)

771

(1 374)

South African normal tax
Deferred tax — current affecting profit and loss
Deferred tax — prior affecting profit and loss
Tax charge

The Group has a calculated tax loss available of R3 698 119 (2018: R6 300 645) which management is of the opinion that the loss will be utilised against taxable
income in the foreseeable future. Coppermet (Pty) Ltd has a tax loss of R2 631 699 (2018: R1 838 395) which management is of the opinion that the loss will not
be utilised against taxable income in the foreseeable future and thus has not recognised a tax loss on this portion.
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the South African tax rate as follows:
Group

Company

R’000

2019

2018

2019

2018

Profit/(loss) before tax

3 842

(5 431)

2 988

(4 924)

Tax at South African normal tax rate of 28%

1 076

(1 521)

837

(1 379)

—

(184)

—

—

Assessed loss utilised

(706)

(155)

(547)

—

Deferred tax differences

942

2 002

526

1 056

77

34

70

22

— Impairments

—

7

—

—

— Loss on disposal of assets

26

4

20

—

— Depreciation on leasehold improvements

20

22

20

21

— Legal costs

23

—

23

—

8

1

7

1

Deferred tax on assessed loss not utilised

—

(1 049)

—

(1 049)

Capital gains/(loss) tax

60

—

26

—

Learnership allowances

(100)

—

(100)

—

Income not taxable for tax purposes

(9)

(24)

(41)

(24)

— Renewal of trademarks

—

(21)

—

(21)

— Intercompany debt relinquished by subsidiary

—

—

(32)

—

— Employment tax incentive

(9)

(3)

(9)

(3)

1 340

(897)

771

(1 374)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:
Deferred tax recognised in current period relating to prior periods

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

— Other

Income tax expense
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25. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER ORDINARY SHARE
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year. The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.
Group
R’000

2019

2018

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders

2 502

(4 534)

Actual and weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000s)

8 143

8 143

30,7

(55,7)

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents)

The calculation of headline earnings/(loss) per share is based on earnings as calculated below and a weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue of 8 142 850
(2018: 8 142 850).
2019

2018

R’000

Gross

Income
tax effect

Net

Gross

Income
tax effect

Net

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to shareholders

2 502

—

2 502

(4 534)

—

(4 534)

9

(3)

6

245

(69)

176

Loss on disposal of non-current assets held for sale

27

(8)

19

—

—

—

Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

64

(18)

46

(63)

18

(45)

2 602

(29)

2 573

(4 352)

(51)

(4 403)

Adjustments for:
Impairment of non-current assets held for sale

Headline earnings/(loss)
Actual and weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue (’000s)

8 143

8 143

Headline and diluted headline earnings/(loss) per share
(cents)

31,6

(54,1)

26. CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS
Group

Company

R’000

2019

2018

2019

2018

Profit/(loss) before tax

3 842

(5 431)

2 988

(4 924)

— Depreciation and amortisation

2 366

2 806

2 098

2 488

— Finance costs

Adjustments for:

1 197

1 029

1 196

996

— Impairment of investment in subsidiary

—

—

228

—

— Intercompany debt relinquished by subsidiary

—

—

(346)

—

— Impairment of non-current assets held for sale

9

245

—

—

— Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

64

(63)

71

(75)

— Loss on disposal of non-current assets held for sale

27

—

—

—

(3 323)

283

(3 451)

(427)

— Trade and other receivables

(276)

164

557

(666)

— Trade and other payables

(963)

(352)

(215)

381

Changes in working capital:
— Inventories

— Amount due by subsidiaries and related companies
Cash generated from/(used in) operations

—

—

922

712

2 943

(1 319)

4 048

(1 515)
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27. INCOME TAX RECEIVED
Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

Opening balance

—

207

—

207

Charge per profit and loss excluding movement in deferred tax

—

—

—

—

Closing balance

—

—

—

—

Tax received

—

207

—

207

R’000

28. SHAREHOLDERS FOR DIVIDENDS
Group
R’000

2019

Company
2018

2019

2018

Opening balance — shareholders for dividends

(8)

(8)

(8)

(8)

Unclaimed dividends reversed

8

—

8

—

Closing balance — shareholders for dividends

—

8

—

8

Dividend paid

—

—

—

—

29. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods presented.

Net debt
Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

538

635

494

124

Borrowings — repayable within one year (including overdraft)

(7 680)

(7 380)

(5 504)

(5 482)

Borrowings — repayable after one year

(2 350)

(389)

(2 350)

(389)

Net debt

(9 492)

(7 134)

(7 360)

(5 747)

538

635

494

124

(10 030)

(7 769)

(7 854)

(5 871)

(9 492)

(7 134)

(7 360)

(5 747)

R’000
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and liquid investments
Gross debt — variable interest rates
Net debt
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29. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION CONTINUED
Other assets

Liabilities from financing activities

Cash/bank
overdraft

Borrowings due
within 1 year

Borrowings due
after 1 year

Total

Net debt as at 1 March 2017

(2 997)

(1 130)

(386)

(4 513)

Cash flows

(3 334)

785

(3)

(2 552)

R’000

GROUP

Foreign exchange differences

(69)

—

—

(69)

(6 400)

(345)

(389)

(7 134)

102

1 024

—

1 126

Non-cashflow movements relating to finance leases

—

(1 579)

(1 961 )

(3 540 )

Foreign exchange differences

56

—

—

56

(6 242)

(900)

(2 350)

(9 492)

Net debt as at 1 March 2017

(2 419)

(512)

(345)

(3 276)

Cash flows

(2 557)

210

(44)

(2 391)

(80)

—

—

(80)

(5 056)

(302)

(389)

(5 747)

891

981

—

1 872

Non-cashflow movements relating to finance leases

—

(1 579 )

(1 961)

(3 540)

Foreign exchange differences

55

—

—

55

(4 110)

(900)

(2 350)

(7 360)

2019

2018

8 113

9 035

(8 638)

(9 090)

Management fees charged to subsidiary

840

840

Operating lease charged from subsidiary

(2 400)

(2 400)

(105)

—

Net debt as at 28 February 2018
Cash flows

Net debt as at 28 February 2019

COMPANY

Foreign exchange differences
Net debt as at 28 February 2018
Cash flows

Net debt as at 28 February 2019

30. RELATED PARTIES
All transaction prices with related parties are in the normal course of business.

Relationships
Holding company:

Spanjaard Group Limited

Subsidiaries:

Coppermet Proprietary Limited; Spanjaard EU BV; Spanjaard UK Limited; Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited

Related party balances
R’000
Amounts owing by subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries
Loans — refer to note 10 for the terms of the loan
Amounts owing to subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries
Loans — refer to note 10 for the terms of the loan
Transactions with subsidiaries

Purchase of vehicle from subsidiary
Purchases of non-current assets held for sale from subsidiary
Sales to subsidiary
Transactions with close family members of key management personnel in Company

(14)

—

3 192

2 636

—

263
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance
of the Group through mitigating risk. This is managed at Group and Company level by the Board of Directors. The Group currently banks with Standard Bank Group
Limited and Ebury Bank who have a credit rating of Baa3 and P-1 respectively.
There has been no change to the policies and procedures for managing risk from the prior year.

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk relates mainly to cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors at year-end amounting to R16 196 249 (2018: R15 736 846). The Group only
deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Customers are independently rated by Credit Guarantee and these ratings are used as explained in note 8.
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, due to its wide spread of customers. The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history and that partially guarantee the recoverability of trade receivables.

(ii) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar, the Euro and
the GB Pound. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. To manage
their foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities, entities in the Group use derivative financial instruments
such as forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce certain exposures. Although the Group hedges its foreign currency transactions, this does not qualify as hedging
in terms of IFRS. There were no foreign exchange contracts open at year-end. The year-end rate of R/€ in 2019 was 16,0840 (2018: 14,4832). The average rate of R/€
in 2019 was 15,7792 (2018: 15,1265). The year-end rate of R/£ in 2019 was 18,7489 (2018: 16,3354). The average rate of R/£ in 2019 was 17,8442 (2018: 17,1730).
The year-end rate of R/US$ in 2019 was 14,1373 (2018: 11,8734). The average rate of R/US$ in 2019 was 13,5444 (2018: 13,0981). The Group reviews its foreign
currency exposure on an ongoing basis.
Foreign currency exposure at reporting date
2019

2018

104

76

1 464

898

Accounts receivable (€)

50

14

Carrying value in rands

812

205

Accounts payable ($)

30

35

Carrying value in rands

431

420

R’000

GROUP
Unhedged current assets
Accounts receivable ($)
Carrying value in rands

Unhedged current liabilities
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
Foreign currency exposure at reporting date
2019

2018

104

76

1 464

898

Accounts receivable (€)

—

14

Carrying value in rands

—

205

Accounts payable ($)

30

35

Carrying value in rands

431

415

14,137

11,873

Great British Pound

18,749

16,335

Euro

16,084

14,483

R’000

COMPANY
Unhedged current assets
Accounts receivable ($)
Carrying value in rands

Unhedged current liabilities

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:
United States Dollar

Sensitivity analysis

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
due to changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts and foreign accounts payable and receivable.
Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

+5%

52

24

52

24

-5%

(52)

(24)

(52)

(24)

+5%

41

10

—

10

-5%

(41)

(10)

—

(10)

R’000
Dollar fluctuation

Euro fluctuation

(iii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowings (note 13) and cash and cash equivalents (note 9). Management of interest risk is through increased
turnover and effective controls over cash collections.
Sensitivity analysis

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
through the impact on variable rate borrowings.
Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

+5%

163

37

163

35

-5%

(163)

(37)

(163)

(35)

R’000
Interest rate fluctuation

Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2019

82

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
(iv) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities. This is managed via daily reconciliations of the cash on hand and cash forecasts to ensure the facility limit is not breached.
Refer to note 8 for the disclosure surrounding the trade receivables and other receivables.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual
maturity date.
R’000

Weighted
percentage (%)

Less than
1 year

Between
1 and 5 years

Over
5 years

Total

10,69

1 206

2 754

—

3 960

10 120

—

—

10 120

6 780

—

—

6 780

18 106

2 754

—

20 860

402

424

—

826

11 026

—

—

11 026

7 035

—

—

7 035

18 463

424

—

18 887

1 206

2 754

—

3 960

9 703

—

—

9 703

4 604

—

—

4 604

15 513

2 754

—

18 267

358

424

—

782

9 866

—

—

9 866

5 180

—

—

5 180

15 404

424

—

15 828

GROUP
At 28 February 2019
Liabilities
Instalment sales agreements
Trade and other payables (exclude VAT payable)
Overdraft

12,08

At 28 February 2018
Liabilities
Instalment sales agreements

11,87

Trade and other payables (exclude VAT payable)
Overdraft

11,25

COMPANY
At 28 February 2019
Liabilities
Instalment sales agreements

10,84

Trade and other payables (exclude VAT payable)
Overdraft

12,08

At 28 February 2018
Liabilities
Instalment sales agreements

11,91

Trade and other payables (exclude VAT payable)
Overdraft
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Carrying amount
R’000

2019

2018

15 117

15 102

538

635

15 655

15 737

2 350

389

900

345

GROUP
Financial assets
Loans and receivables at amortised cost (2018: loans and receivables)
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings
— Non-current
— Current

6 780

7 035

10 120

11 026

20 150

18 795

14 305

15 102

8 113

9 035

494

124

22 912

24 261

2 350

389

900

302

Amount due to related Company

8 638

9 090

Bank overdraft

4 604

5 180

Trade and other payables (Exclude VAT payable)

9 703

9 866

26 195

24 827

Bank overdraft
Trade and other payables (Exclude VAT payable)

COMPANY
Financial assets
Loans and receivables at amortised cost (2018: loans and receivables)
Trade receivables
Amount due by related Company
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings
— Non-current
— Current

The carrying amounts of short-term instruments are a reasonable estimate of the fair values because of the short maturity of such instruments. The carrying amounts
of long-term borrowings are a reasonable estimate of fair value as the borrowings are based on floating market rates. The long-term borrowings are amortised over
their defined term and have been split into their long- and short-term portions based on the capital repayments as calculated using the effective interest rate.
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33. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows:
Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at measurement date.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Levels of fair value measurements
Group

Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

Freehold land and buildings

19 500

18 758

—

—

Plant and equipment

10 342

9 183

10 310

9 143

Total property, plant and equipment

29 842

27 941

10 310

9 143

R’000

LEVEL 3
Property, plant and equipment

Note 3

Valuation techniques underlying management’s estimation of fair value
Management relied on the valuation of JC Bokhorst Valuation Services (Pty) Ltd in order to value the freehold land and buildings. The following methodologies are
applicable to and used in determining the results as set out below:
Estimated new
replacement
cost approach 1

Depreciated
replacement
cost approach 2

Capital
rental
approach 3

Year ended 28 February 2019

29 611

19 631

19 700

5% decrease in land value per square metre

29 180

19 201

—

5% increase in land value per square metre

30 041

20 061

—

0,5% decrease in capitalisation rate

—

—

20 600

0,5% increase in capitalisation rate

—

—

18 900

R’000
Sensitivity on management’s estimates:

1 The amount the Group would have to pay to replace the asset at the present time.
2	The estimated new replacement cost approach (ENRC) discounted to reflect the depreciated replacement value of improvements. A cost to cure method can be used which estimates
the amount needed to restore the improvements to their prime condition, which is then subtracted from the ENRC.
3	The value attributed to the right of an annual income stream. This approach entails the research and analysis of transaction prices of similar or comparably substituting properties,
rental rates, expense ratios, yields, capitalisation rates, tenant covenants and risk.

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis on the land value per square meter as this value is determined based on similar properties in the area and is based on
certain assumptions rather that an exact rate that the Group will receive if the freehold land and buildings were sold. A sensitivity analysis was also performed on the
capitalisation rate used as there are certain assumptions that are used to determine both the net operating income as well as the current market value of the freehold
land and buildings, thus management has decided to show the impact of these assumptions should they fluctuate.
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING

AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2019

The following information has been extracted from the register of shareholders at 28 February 2019:
Number of
shareholders

% of total
shareholders

Number of
shares held
’000

% of total
shares issued

355

87,65

151

1,85

5 001 – 10 000 shares

18

4,44

148

1,82

10 001 – 50 000 shares

21

5,19

489

6,01

50 001 – 100 000 shares

5

1,24

332

4,08

100 001 – and over

6

1,48

7 023

86,24

405

100,00

8 143

100,00

5

1,23

5 918

72,68

263

64,94

1 940

23,82

SHARE CATEGORIES
Public
1 – 5 000 shares

GROUP CATEGORIES
Public companies
Individuals
Nominees and trusts

14

3,46

194

2,38

Private companies

92

22,72

88

1,08

Close corporations

31

7,65

3

0,04

405

100,00

8 143

100,00

400

98,77

1 769

21,72

— Directors

4

0,99

531

6,53

— Holding company

1

0,24

5 843

71,75

405

100,00

8 143

100,00

Number of
shares held
’000

% of total
shares issued

5 843

71,75

489

6,01

6 332

77,76

SHAREHOLDING IN THE COMPANY
Share type
Public
Non-public

The following shareholders directly hold more than five percent of the issued share capital:

GROUP CATEGORIES:
Spanjaard Group Limited
BV Von Spreckelsen
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING
SPANJAARD LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1960/004393/06)
JSE Share Code: SPA ISIN: ZAE000006938

Notice of meeting
Notice is hereby given that the 57th annual general meeting
of shareholders of the Company (“the meeting”) will be held
at The Wanderers Club, 21 North Road, Illovo, Johannesburg,
at 12h00 on Thursday, 8 August 2019.

Record date, attendance and voting
The record date for determining which shareholders are
entitled to notice of the meeting is Friday, 31 May 2019 and
the record date for determining which shareholders are entitled
to participate in and vote at the meeting is Friday, 26 July 2019.
The last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the
meeting is accordingly Tuesday, 23 July 2019.
If you hold dematerialised shares which are registered in your
name or if you are the registered holder of certified shares:
—— you may attend the meeting in person;
—— alternatively, you may appoint a proxy to represent you at
the meeting by completing the attached form of proxy in
accordance with the instructions it contains and returning
it to Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited,
15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2196
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) (“transfer secretaries”).
If you hold dematerialised shares which are not registered
in your name:
—— and wish to attend the meeting, you must obtain the necessary
letter of representation from your Central Securities Depository
Participant (“CSDP”) or broker;
—— and do not wish to attend the meeting but would like your vote
to be recorded at the meeting, you should contact your CSDP
or broker and furnish them with your voting instructions;
—— you must not complete the attached form of proxy.
All shareholders are entitled to attend, speak and vote at the
general meeting and to appoint one or more proxies to attend,
speak and vote or abstain in their stead. On a show of hands,
every member who is present in person or by proxy shall have
on vote, and, on a poll, every member present or by proxy shall
have one vote for each share held by him/her.

A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
is entitled, by completing the attached proxy form and delivering
it to the Company in accordance with the instructions on that
proxy form, to appoint a proxy to attend, participate in and vote
at the meeting in that shareholder’s place. A proxy need not be
a shareholder of the Company.
All meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies)
may be required to provide satisfactory identification to the
Chairman of the meeting. Forms of identification include valid
identity documents, passports and driver’s licences.

Purpose of meeting
The purpose of this meeting is to consider and, if deemed fit, to
pass, with or without modification, the resolutions set out below.

Voting rights
In order for these ordinary resolutions number 1 to 8 to be
adopted, the support of at least the simple majority (50% plus
one share) of the total number of votes, which the shareholders
present or represented by proxy at this meeting are entitled to
cast, is required. The quorum for the meeting is 25% (twentyfive percent) of the issued share capital of the Company.

Report from the Social and Ethics Committee
In accordance with Companies Regulation 42(5)(c), issued in terms
of the Act, the Chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee, or
in the absence of the Chairman any member of the Committee,
will present the Committee’s report to shareholders at the
annual general meeting.

Ordinary resolutions
Ordinary resolution number 1 —
Approval of the annual financial statements
To receive and adopt the annual financial statements of
Spanjaard Limited for the year ended 28 February 2019.

Ordinary resolution number 2 —
Directors’ remuneration
To confirm the directors’ remuneration as detailed in the
directors’ emoluments note in the integrated report of the
Company for the year ended 28 February 2019.

Ordinary resolution number 3 —
Appointment and remuneration of auditors
To appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as auditors of the
Company until the following annual general meeting, and to
authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration for
the past year.
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Ordinary resolution number 4 —
Placing authorised but unissued share capital under
the control of the directors

Special resolutions

Resolved that the unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the
Company be and are hereby placed under the control of the
Directors until the next annual general meeting and that they
are hereby authorised to issue any shares as they may deem fit
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the
Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, and the JSE
Listings Requirements.

In order for the special resolutions to be adopted, the support
of at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the total number of
votes, which the shareholders present or represented by proxy
at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required. The quorum for
the meeting is 25% (twenty-five percent) of the issued share
capital of the Company.

Ordinary resolution number 5 —
Appointment of the members of the Audit Committee
To appoint, by way of separate resolutions, the Audit Committee
Chairperson, Mrs S. Hari and Audit Committee member,
Prof DP van der Nest as required in terms of the Companies
Act and as recommended by King IV.

Ordinary resolution number 6 —
Appointment of the Company Secretary
To authorise any person authorised by Levitt Kirson
Business Services Proprietary Limited to continue in
office as Company Secretary.

Ordinary resolution number 7 —
Directors’ interest in contracts
To confirm that in compliance with section 75(5) of the Act, the
directors have no interest to declare in any contracts entered
into by the Company during the year under review.

Ordinary resolution number 8 —
To transact such other business as may be transacted
at an annual general meeting

Non-binding advisory vote —
remuneration policy
The King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa
2016 (King IV) recommends that the Company’s remuneration
policy be tabled for a non-binding advisory vote by shareholders at
every AGM, thus providing the shareholders with an opportunity
to express their views on the Company’s remuneration policies.
The report of the Remuneration Committee is set out on pages
30 to 33 of the integrated annual report.

Non-binding advisory vote
“	Resolved that the Company’s remuneration policy as set out
on pages 30 to 33 of the integrated annual report, be and
is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding advisory vote.”

Voting rights

Special resolution number 1 —
Financial assistance to related or inter-related
entities to the Company
“	Resolved that the Board of Directors is authorised, in terms of
and subject to the provisions of section 45 of the Companies
Act, to cause the Company to provide financial assistance to
any company or corporation that is related or inter-related
to Spanjaard Limited”.

Reason for and effect of this resolution
Special resolution number 1 is required in terms of section 45
of the Companies Act to grant the Directors of the Company the
authority to cause the Company to provide financial assistance
to any entity which is related or inter-related to the Company,
and it will have this effect. This special resolution does not
authorise the provision of financial assistance to a Director
or prescribed officer of the Company.

Special resolution number 2 —
Financial assistance for subscription for or purchase
of securities by related or inter-related entities
to the Company
“	Resolved that the Board of Directors is authorised, in terms of
and subject to the provisions of section 44 of the Companies
Act, to cause the Company to provide financial assistance for
subscription for or purchase of securities to any entity which
is related or inter-related to the Company, and it will have this
effect. This special resolution does not authorise the provision
of financial assistance to a Director or prescribed officer
of the Company.”

Reason for and effect of this resolution
Special resolution number 2 is required in terms of section 44
of the Companies Act to grant the Directors of the Company the
authority to cause the Company to provide financial assistance for
the subscription for or purchase of securities to any entity which is
related or inter-related to the Company, and it will have this effect.
This special resolution does not authorise the provision of financial
assistance to a Director or prescribed officer of the Company.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING
Special resolution number 3 —
Approval of the remuneration of non-executive
directors for services as directors for the following year
Resolved that the following remuneration of Directors of the
Company for their services as Directors of the Company for the
period from 1 March 2019 to 28 February 2020 be and is hereby
approved in accordance with sections 66(9) of the Companies Act:

CONTINUED

Reason for and effect of this resolution
Special resolution number 4 is required to authorise and
resolve that all matters and things undertaken and discharged
by the directors on behalf of the Company be and are hereby
confirmed and to the extent necessary, ratified.

Interpretation of this notice

—— Chairman of the Board — R195 000 per annum

In this notice of annual general meeting, all references to:

—— Non-executive members of the Board — R 195 000 per annum

—— “Companies Act” means the Companies Act, No. 71
of 2008, as amended;

Reason for and effect of this resolution

—— “JSE Listings Requirements” means the Listings
Requirements of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange,
as amended from time to time;

Special resolution number 3 is required in terms of section
66(9) of the Companies Act, in order that the Company may, if
so authorised in terms of a special resolution, pay remuneration
to its non-executive directors for their services as Directors.
The effect of this resolution is to approve the remuneration of
the Directors of the Company for their services as Directors for
the following year.

Special resolution number 4 —
Actions of directors
Resolved that all matters and things undertaken and discharged
by the directors on behalf of the Company be and are hereby
confirmed and to the extent necessary, ratified.
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—— “MOI” means the Memorandum of Incorporation.
By order of the Board

Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited
Company Secretary
Johannesburg — 31 May 2019
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FORM
OF PROXY
SPANJAARD LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1960/004393/06)
JSE Share Code: SPA ISIN: ZAE000006938
This form of proxy (“form”) is for use by certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders whose shares are registered in their own names on Friday, 26 July
2019, being the record date for the meeting (see note 1).
This form relates to the annual general meeting of shareholders to be held at The Wanderers Club, 21 North Road, Illovo, Johannesburg, at 12h00 on Thursday, 8 August
2019 (“meeting”) (see note 2).
For instructions on the use of this form and a summary of the rights of the shareholders and the proxy, please see the instructions and notes at the end of this form.
I/We (full names)
of (address)
being a shareholder/s of the Company and being the registered owner/s of
ordinary shares in the Company (see note 3), hereby appoint:
1.

or failing him/her

2.

or failing him/her

the Chairman of the meeting (see note 4) as my/our proxy to attend, speak and on a poll to vote or abstain from voting on my/our behalf at the meeting of the Company to be held
at The Wanderers Club, 21 North Road, Illovo, Johannesburg, at 12h00 on Thursday, 8 August 2019 or at any adjournment thereof (see note 5).
I/We desire my/our proxy to vote as follows (Indicate with a cross how you wish your vote to be cast. If you do not do so, the proxy may vote or abstain at his discretion —
see note 6):
In favour of

Against

Abstain

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
1. Approval of the annual financial statements
2. Approval of directors’ remuneration
3. Appointment and remuneration of auditors
4. Placing authorised but unissued share capital under the control of the directors
5. Appointment of the members of the Audit Committee
		 5.1		To appoint Mrs S Hari as Chairperson of the Audit Committee as required in terms of the Companies Act and as
recommended by King IV
		 5.2		To appoint Prof DP van der Nest as member of the Audit Committee as required in terms of the Companies Act and as
recommended by King IV
6.	To authorise any person authorised by Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited to continue in office as
Company Secretary
7.		To confirm that in compliance with section 75(5) of the Act, the directors have no interest to declare in any contracts
entered into by the Company during the year under review
8. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting

NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE — REMUNERATION POLICY
SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
1. Financial assistance to related and inter-related entities to the Company
2. Financial assistance for the subscription for or purchase of securities by related and inter-related entities to the Company
3. Approval of the remuneration of non-executive directors for services as directors for the following year
4. Approval of the actions of directors undertaken and discharged during the year
Signed this

day of

Signature

Number of shares

2019

Please see the notes on the reverse side hereof for further instructions.
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INSTRUCTIONS AND
NOTES TO PROXY FORM
1.		This form is for use by certificated shareholders and dematerialised
shareholders with “own-name” registration whose shares are registered
in their own names on the record date and who wish to appoint another
person to represent them at the meeting. If duly authorised, companies
and other corporate bodies which are shareholders having shares registered
in their own names may appoint a proxy using this form, or may appoint a
representative in accordance with the last paragraph below.
			Other shareholders should not use this form. All beneficial holders who
have dematerialised their shares through a Central Securities Depository
Participant (CSDP) or broker, and do not have their shares registered
in their own name, must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting
instructions. Alternatively, if they wish to attend the meeting in person,
they should request the CSDP or broker to provide them with a letter of
representation in terms of the custody agreement entered into between
the beneficial owner and the CSDP or broker.
2.		This form will not be effective at the meeting unless received at
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 15 Biermann
Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2196, Republic of South Africa.
If a shareholder does not wish to deliver this form to that address,
it may also be posted at the risk of the shareholder to PO Box 61051,
Marshalltown, 2107.
3.		This form shall apply to all the ordinary shares registered in the name of
shareholders at the record date unless a lesser number of shares is inserted.

			the proxy shall be entitled to vote or abstain from voting, as he thinks fit,
in relation to the resolution or matter. If, however, the shareholder has
provided further written instructions which accompany this form and
which indicate how the proxy should vote or abstain from voting in any of
the circumstances referred to in 6.1 to 6.4, then the proxy shall comply
with those instructions.
7.			If this form is signed by a person (signatory) on behalf of the shareholder,
whether in terms of a power of attorney or otherwise, then this form will
not be effective unless:
			 7.1		it is accompanied by a certified copy of the authority given by the
shareholder to the signatory; or
			 7.2		the Company has already received a certified copy of that authority.
8.		The Chairman of the meeting may, at his discretion, accept or reject
any form or other written appointment of a proxy which is received by
the Chairman prior to the time when the meeting deals with a resolution
or matter to which the appointment of the proxy relates, even if that
appointment of a proxy has not been completed and/or received in
accordance with these instructions. However, the Chairman shall not
accept any such appointment of a proxy unless the Chairman is satisfied
that it reflects the intention of the shareholder appointing the proxy.
9.		Any alternations made in this form must be initialled by the authorised
signatory/ies.

4.		A shareholder may appoint one person as his proxy by inserting the
name of such proxy in the space provided. Any such proxy need not be
a shareholder of the Company. If the name of the proxy is not inserted,
the Chairman of the meeting will be appointed as proxy. If more than one
name is inserted, then the person whose name appears first on this form
and who is present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the
exclusion of any persons whose names follow. The proxy appointed in this
form may delegate the authority given to him in this proxy by delivering to
the Company, in the manner required by these instructions, a further form
which has been completed in a manner consistent with the authority given
to the proxy of this form.

10.		This form is revoked if the shareholder who granted the proxy:

5.		Unless revoked, the appointment of a proxy in terms of this form remains
valid until the end of the meeting even if the meeting or part thereof is
postponed or adjourned.

12.		A minor must be assisted by his/her guardian, unless proof of competency
is signed and has been recorded by the Company.

6.		 Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, if:
			 6.1		a shareholder does not indicate on this form that the proxy is to vote
in favour of or against or to abstain from voting on any resolution; or
			 6.2		the shareholder gives contrary instructions in relation to any matter;
or
			 6.3		any additional resolution/s are properly put before the meeting; or
			 6.4		 any resolutions listed in the proxy form is modified or amended,
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			 10.1	gives written notice of such revocation to the Company, so that it is
received by the Company; or
			 10.2 appoints another proxy for the meeting; or
			 10.3 attends the meeting himself in person.
11.		All notices which a shareholder is entitled to receive in relation to the
Company shall continue to be sent to that shareholder and shall not be
sent to the proxy.

13.		If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies which are
shareholders of the Company having shares registered in their own name
may, instead of completing this proxy form, appoint a representative to
represent them and exercise all of their rights at the meeting by giving written
notice of the appointment of that representative. This notice will not be
effective at the meeting unless it is accompanied by a duly certified copy of
the resolution/s or other authorities in terms of which that representative is
appointed and is received at the Company’s transfer office, Computershare
Investor Services Proprietary Limited,15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank,
Johannesburg, 2196, Republic of South Africa.
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SUMMARY
OF RIGHTS
Summary of rights established by section 58 of the
Companies Act, as required in terms of subsection
58(8)(b)(i)
1.		A shareholder may at any time appoint any individual, including a
non-shareholder of the Company, as a proxy to participate in, speak and
vote at a shareholders’ meeting on his or her behalf (section 58(1)(a)),
or to give or withhold consent on behalf of the shareholder to a decision
in terms of section 60 (shareholders acting other than at a meeting)
(section 58(1)(b)).
2.		A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the
shareholder, and remains valid for one year after the date on which it was
signed or any longer or shorter period expressly set out in the appointment,
unless it is revoked in terms of paragraph 6.3 or expires earlier in terms
of paragraph 10.4 below (section 58(2)).
3.		A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies
and may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached
to different securities held by the shareholder (section 58(3)(a)).
4.		A proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of the
shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out in the
instrument appointing the proxy (proxy instrument) (section 58(3)(b)).
5.		A copy of the proxy instrument must be delivered to the Company,
or to any other person acting on behalf of the Company, before the
proxy exercises any rights of the shareholder at a shareholders’ meeting
(section 58(3)(c)) and in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI)
of the Company.
6.		 Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy:
			 6.1		the appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent that
the shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise
of any rights as a shareholder (section 58(4)(a));
			 6.2		the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment states
otherwise (section 58(4)(b)); and
			 6.3		if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the
proxy appointment by cancelling it in writing or by making a later,
inconsistent appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the
revocation instrument to the proxy and to the Company (section
58(4)(c)).

7.			The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final
cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder
as of the later of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or the
date on which the revocation instrument was delivered as contemplated
in paragraph 6.3 above (section 58(5)).
8.		If the proxy instrument has been delivered to a Company, as long as that
appointment remains in effect, any notice required by the Companies Act
or the Company’s MOI to be delivered by the Company to the shareholders
must be delivered by the Company to the shareholders (section 58(6)(a)),
or the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has directed the Company to do
so in writing and paid any reasonable fee charged by the Company for
doing so (section 58(6)(b)).
9.		A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right
of the shareholder without direction, except to the extent that the MOI or
proxy instrument provides otherwise (section 58(7)).
10.		If a Company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or
more persons named by the Company as a proxy, or supplies a form
of proxy instrument:
			 10.1	the invitation must be sent to every shareholder entitled to notice
of the meeting at which the proxy is intended to be exercised
(section 58(8)(a)).
			 10.2	the invitation or form of proxy instrument supplied by the
Company must:
						 10.2.1		bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights
established in section 58 of the Companies Act
(section 58(8)(b)(i));
						10.2.2		
contain adequate blank space, immediately preceding
the name(s) of any person(s) named in it, to enable a
shareholder to write the name, and if desired, an
alternative name of a proxy chosen by the shareholder
(section 58(8)(b)(ii)); and
						 10.2.3		provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate
whether the appointed proxy is to vote in favour of or
against any resolution(s), to be put at the meeting,
or is to abstain from voting (section 58(8)(b)(iii));
			 10.3	the Company must not require that the proxy appointment be made
irrevocable (section 58(8)( c )); and
			 10.4	the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the meeting
at which it was intended to be used, subject to paragraph 7 above
(section 58(8)(d)).
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CORPORATE
INFORMATION
Registered office

Transfer secretaries

Spanjaard Limited

Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited

748 – 750 Fifth Street
Wynberg
Sandton
2090

Registration number
1960/004393/06

Company secretary
and registered office
Levitt Kirson Business Services
Proprietary Limited
4th Floor, Aloe Grove
Houghton Estate Office Park
2 Osborn Road
Houghton
2198

Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, Johannesburg
2196

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
4 Lisbon Lane
Waterfall City
Jukskei View
2090

Sponsor
Arbor Capital Sponsors
Proprietary Limited
20 Stirrup Lane
Woodmead Office Park

Domicile

Corner Woodmead Drive
and Van Reenens Avenue

South Africa

Woodmead
2191
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